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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INDUSTRY DATA

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and 
describe our future plans, strategies and expectations, can generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terms such as “believe,” “expect,” “may,” 
“will,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “seek,” “intend,” “plan,” “goal,” “project,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “strategy,” “future,” “likely” or other comparable 
terms. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our strategy, 
future operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management, are forward-looking statements. 

The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, among other things, statements about:

• the initiation, timing, progress and results of our current and future preclinical studies and clinical trials and our research and development 
programs;

• our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and need for additional financing;
 

• our expectations regarding our ability to fund our projected operating requirements with our existing cash resources and the period in which 
we expect that such cash resources will enable us to fund such operating requirements;
 

• our plans to develop our drug product candidates;
 

• the timing of and our ability to submit applications for, obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for our drug product candidates;
 

• the potential advantages of our drug product candidates;
 

• the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of our drug product candidates, if approved;
 

• our estimates regarding the potential market opportunity for our drug product candidates;
 

• our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy;
 

• our intellectual property position;
 

• our ability to identify additional products, drug product candidates or technologies with significant commercial potential that are consistent 
with our commercial objectives;
 

• the impact of government laws and regulations;
 

• our competitive position;
 

• developments relating to our competitors and our industry; and
 

• our ability to maintain and establish collaborations or obtain additional funding.
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Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based only on our current beliefs, 
expectations and assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the economy and 
other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in 
circumstances that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. Our actual results and financial condition may differ materially 
from those indicated in the forward-looking statements. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking statements. Important factors that 
could cause our actual results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements include the factors 
discussed below under the heading “Risk Factor Summary,” and the risk factors detailed further in Item 1A., “Risk Factors” of Part I of our Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

This report includes statistical and other industry and market data that we obtained from industry publications and research, surveys, and studies 
conducted by third parties as well as our own estimates. All of the market data used in this report involve a number of assumptions and limitations, and you 
are cautioned not to give undue weight to such data. Industry publications and third-party research, surveys, and studies generally indicate that their 
information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. Our 
estimates of the potential market opportunities for our drug product candidates include several key assumptions based on our industry knowledge, industry 
publications, third-party research, and other surveys, which may be based on a small sample size and may fail to accurately reflect market opportunities. 
While we believe that our internal assumptions are reasonable, no independent source has verified such assumptions.

Any forward-looking statement made by us in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is based only on information currently available to us and speaks 
only as of the date on which it is made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether written or oral, that may be 
made from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.

RISK FACTOR SUMMARY  

Investment in our securities involves risk.  You should carefully consider the following summary of what we believe to be the principal risks 
facing our business, in addition to the risks described more fully in Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 21, 2023 and other information included in this report. The risks and uncertainties described below are not 
the only risks and uncertainties we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we presently deem less significant may also 
impair our business operations.

If any of the following risks occurs, our business, financial condition and results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially 
and adversely affected, and the actual outcomes of matters as to which forward-looking statements are made in this report could be materially different 
from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements.

• We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, have no history of generating commercial revenue, have a history of operating losses, and 
we may never achieve or maintain profitability.

• We currently do not have, and may never develop, any FDA-approved or commercialized products.

• We are substantially dependent on the success of our drug product candidates, only two of which are currently being tested in a clinical trial, and 
significant additional research and development and clinical testing will be required before we can potentially seek regulatory approval for or 
commercialize any of our drug product candidates.

• We have limited experience in conducting clinical trials and no history of commercializing biologic products, which may make it difficult to 
evaluate the prospects for our future viability. 

• We plan to seek collaborations or strategic alliances. However, we may not be able to establish such relationships, and relationships we have 
established may not provide the expected benefits. 

• Our collaboration agreement with LG Chem contains exclusivity provisions that restrict our research and development activities.

• We may not be successful in our efforts to identify additional drug product candidates. Due to our limited resources and access to capital, we 
must prioritize development of certain drug product candidates; these decisions may prove to be wrong and may adversely affect our business.

• We face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, and our operating results will suffer if we fail to 
compete effectively.
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• We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected 
deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our drug product candidates and our business could be 
substantially harmed.

• We rely completely on third parties to manufacture our preclinical and clinical drug supplies for our drug product candidates.

• If we or our licensor is unable to protect our or its intellectual property, then our financial condition, results of operations and the value of our 
technology and potential products could be adversely affected.

• We will be subject to stringent domestic and foreign regulation in respect of any potential products. The regulatory approval processes of the 
FDA and other comparable regulatory authorities outside the United States are lengthy, time-consuming and inherently unpredictable. Any 
unfavorable regulatory action may materially and adversely affect our future financial condition and business operations.

• Even if a potential therapeutic is ultimately approved by the various regulatory authorities, it may be approved only for narrow indications which 
may render it commercially less viable.

• Even if we receive regulatory approval of our drug product candidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued 
regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory 
requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our drug product candidates.

• We have a loan agreement that requires us to meet certain operating covenants and places restrictions on our operating and financial flexibility. 
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Cue Biopharma, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited in thousands, except share amounts)
 

   
June 30,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
Assets            
Current assets:            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 52,901     $ 51,614  
Marketable securities     4,988       24,675  
Accounts receivable     1,135       57  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     1,911       841  

Total current assets     60,935       77,187  
Property and equipment, net     1,192       1,499  
Operating lease right-of-use     7,786       9,203  
Deposits     2,977       3,116  
Restricted cash     150       150  
Other long-term assets     123       128  

Total assets   $ 73,163     $ 91,283  
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity            
Current liabilities:            

Accounts payable   $ 2,356     $ 2,731  
Accrued expenses     4,076       3,554  
Research and development contract liability, current portion     2,547       —  
Operating lease liability, current portion     3,365       3,300  
Current portion of long-term debt, net     3,963       1,963  

Total current liabilities     16,307       11,548  
Operating lease liability, net of current portion     4,598       6,017  
Research and development contract liability, net of current portion     136       —  
Long-term debt, net     6,118       8,035  

Total liabilities   $ 27,159     $ 25,600  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)            
Stockholders’ equity:            

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized and 0 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022     —       —  
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 43,744,414 and 43,042,548 shares 
issued and outstanding, at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively     44       43  
Additional paid in capital     322,715       316,192  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (5 )     (96 )
Accumulated deficit     (276,750 )     (250,456 )

Total stockholders’ equity     46,004       65,683  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 73,163     $ 91,283  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cue Biopharma, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,    
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Collaboration revenue   $ 1,382     $ 26     $ 1,570     $ 1,026  
Operating expenses (income):                        

General and administrative     4,249       3,782       8,425       8,938  
Research and development     10,650       9,592       20,041       19,675  
Gain on right-of-use asset termination    —       (258 )     —       (258 )
Total operating expenses    14,899       13,116       28,466       28,355  

Loss from operations     (13,517 )     (13,090 )     (26,896 )     (27,329 )
Other (expense) income:                        

Interest income    564       88       1,056       96  
Interest expense, net    (232 )     (206 )     (454 )     (230 )

Total other (expense) income     332       (118 )     602       (134 )
Net loss   $ (13,185 )   $ (13,208 )   $ (26,294 )   $ (27,463 )

Unrealized gain from available-for-sale
   securities     34       —       91       —  

Comprehensive loss   $ (13,151 )   $ (13,208 )   $ (26,203 )   $ (27,463 )
Net loss per common share – basic and diluted   $ (0.29 )   $ (0.37 )   $ (0.59 )   $ (0.81 )
Weighted average common shares outstanding –
   basic and diluted

    44,798,760       35,357,343  
 

  44,725,875       34,005,410  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cue Biopharma, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 
For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:  

    Common Stock     Additional    
Accumulated

Other           Total  

    Shares    
Par

Value    
Paid-in
Capital    

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)    

Accumulated
Deficit    

Stockholders’
Equity  

Balance, March 31, 2022     34,174,800     $ 34     $ 276,340     $ —     $ (211,701 )   $ 64,673  
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering, net of
   sales agent commission and fees     1,197,394       1       5,981       —       —       5,982  
Stock-based compensation     —       —       2,309       —       —       2,309  
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants, net     9,549       —       —       —       —       -  
Net loss     —       —       —       —       (13,208 )     (13,208 )
Balance, June 30, 2022     35,381,743     $ 35     $ 284,630     $ —     $ (224,909 )   $ 59,756  

                   
Balance, March 31, 2023     43,178,150     $ 43     $ 318,578     $ (39 )   $ (263,565 )   $ 55,017  
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering, net of
   sales agent commission and fees     536,264       1       2,015       —       —       2,016  
Stock-based compensation     —       —       2,037       —       —       2,037  
Exercise of stock options     30,000       —       85       —       —       85  
Unrealized gain from available-for-sale securities     —       —       —       34       —       34  
Net loss     —       —       —       —       (13,185 )     (13,185 )
Balance, June 30, 2023     43,744,414     $ 44     $ 322,715     $ (5 )   $ (276,750 )   $ 46,004  

                                     
For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:  

    Common Stock     Additional    
Accumulated

Other           Total  

    Shares    
Par

Value    
Paid-in
Capital    

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)    

Accumulated
Deficit    

Stockholders’
Equity  

Balance, December 31, 2021     32,202,496     $ 32     $ 262,906     $ -     $ (197,446 )   $ 65,492  
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering, net of
   sales agent commission and fees     3,117,220       3       16,595       —       —       16,598  
Stock-based compensation     —       —       5,320       —       —       5,320  
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants, net     9,549       —       —       —       —       —  
Restricted stock awards released     91,668       —       —       —       —       —  
Restricted stock awards withheld at vesting to cover taxes     (39,190 )     —       (191 )     —       —       (191 )
Net loss     —       —       —       —       (27,463 )     (27,463 )
Balance, June 30, 2022     35,381,743     $ 35     $ 284,630     $ —     $ (224,909 )   $ 59,756  

                   
Balance, December 31, 2022     43,042,548     $ 43     $ 316,192     $ (96 )   $ (250,456 )   $ 65,683  
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering, net of
   sales agent commission and fees     536,264       1       2,015       —       —       2,016  
Stock-based compensation     —       —       4,035       —       —       4,035  
Exercise of stock options     165,602       —       473       —       —       473  
Unrealized gain from available-for-sale securities     —       —       —       91       —       91  
Net loss     —       —       —       —       (26,294 )     (26,294 )
Balance, June 30, 2023     43,744,414     $ 44     $ 322,715     $ (5 )   $ (276,750 )   $ 46,004  

                   
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cue Biopharma, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited in thousands)

 
    Six Months Ended June 30,  
    2023     2022  

Cash flows from operating activities            
Net loss   $ (26,294 )   $ (27,463 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:            

Depreciation and amortization     313       518  
Stock-based compensation     4,035       5,320  
Decrease in the carrying amount of right-of-use-assets     1,416       169  
Gain on right-of-use asset termination     —       (258 )
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment     (2 )     4  
Amortization of premium/discount on purchased securities     (222 )     —  
Amortization of debt issuance costs     18       12  
Accretion of final payment on term loan     65       43  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:            

Accounts receivable     (1,077 )     2,407  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     (1,070 )     (1,268 )
Deposits     139       (1,075 )
Accounts payable     (375 )     (1,023 )
Accrued expenses     521       (1,062 )
Research and development contract liability     2,683       (645 )
Operating lease liability     (1,354 )     (100 )

Net cash used in operating activities     (21,204 )     (24,421 )
Cash flows from investing activities            

Purchases of property and equipment     —       (92 )
Cash received from the sale of property and equipment     2       3  
Redemption of short-term investments     20,000       —  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     20,002       (89 )

Cash flows from financing activities            
Proceeds from ATM offering, net of sales agent
   commission and fees     2,016       16,598  
Proceeds from borrowings under term loan     —       10,000  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options     473       —  
Payment of debt issuance costs     —       (142 )
Restricted stock awards withheld at vesting to cover taxes     —       (191 )
Net cash provided by financing activities     2,489       26,265  

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash     1,287       1,755  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period     51,764       64,521  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period   $ 53,051     $ 66,276  
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:            
Cash paid for interest   $ 506     $ 214  
Right-of-use asset and lease liability (new lease)   $ —     $ 9,057  
Operating lease modification   $ —     $ 7,119  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cue Biopharma, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation 

Cue Biopharma, Inc. (the "Company") is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing a novel class of injectable biologics designed to 
selectively engage and modulate tumor-specific T cells within the body to treat a broad range of cancers, chronic infectious diseases, and autoimmune 
diseases. The Company’s corporate office and research facilities are located in Boston, Massachusetts. 

The Company is in the development stage and has incurred recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. As of June 30, 
2023, the Company had cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of approximately $57,889,000. Management believes that current cash, cash 
equivalents, and marketable securities on hand at June 30, 2023 are sufficient to fund operations for at least the next twelve months from the date of 
issuance of these financial statements; however, the future viability of the Company is dependent on its ability to raise additional capital to finance its 
operations and to fund research and development costs in order to seek approval for commercialization of its drug product candidates. The Company’s 
failure to raise capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on its financial condition and its ability to pursue its business strategies as this 
capital is necessary for the Company to perform the research and development activities required to develop and commercialize the Company’s drug 
product candidates in order to generate future revenue streams.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2023, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) for financial information, which prescribes elimination of all significant intercompany accounts 
and transactions in the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Cue Biopharma Securities Corp., which was incorporated in the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts in December 2018. In the opinion of management, these financial statements reflect all adjustments which are necessary 
for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position and results of its operations, as of and for the periods presented. These financial statements should 
be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on 
March 21, 2023.

Interim results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year 
ending December 31, 2023, or any future periods.
 
Public Offerings

In October 2021, the Company entered into an open market sale agreement (the “October 2021 ATM Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC ("Jefferies"), 
as agent, to sell shares of the Company’s common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $80 million, from time to time, through an at-the-market 
equity offering program.  The October 2021 ATM Agreement will terminate upon the earliest of (a) the sale of $80 million of shares of the Company’s 
common stock pursuant to the October 2021 ATM Agreement or (b) the termination of the October 2021 ATM Agreement by the Company or Jefferies. 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company sold 536,264 shares of common stock under the October 2021 ATM Agreement for 
proceeds of approximately $2,015,000 net of commission paid, but excluding transaction expenses. As of June 30, 2023, the Company had sold an 
aggregate of 4,129,671 shares of common stock under the October 2021 ATM Agreement for proceeds of approximately $25.6 million, net of commissions 
paid, but excluding transaction expenses, since its inception.
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Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Cue Biopharma Securities Corp. The 
Company has eliminated all intercompany transactions.
 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. 
Significant estimates include estimates related to collaboration revenue, the accounting for potential liabilities and accrued expenses, the assumptions 
utilized in valuing stock-based compensation issued for services, the realization of deferred tax assets, and the useful life with respect to long-lived assets 
and intangibles. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Concentrations 

The Company maintains its cash balances with financial institutions in federally insured accounts and may periodically have cash balances in excess 
of insurance limits. The Company maintains its accounts with financial institutions with a high credit rating. The Company has not experienced any losses 
to date from our deposits with these financial institutions and believes that it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.  The 
Company currently invests available cash in money market funds.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of investments with original maturities greater than ninety days and less than one year from the balance sheet date.  
The Company classifies all of its investments as available-for-sale securities.  Accordingly, these investments are recorded at fair value, which is based on 
quoted market prices.  Unrealized gains and losses are recognized and determined on a specific identification basis and are included in other comprehensive 
loss. Realized gains and losses are determined on a specific identification basis and are included in other income on the consolidated statement of 
operations and other comprehensive loss.  Amortization and accretion of discounts and premiums is recorded in interest income.  The Company has 
invested available cash in U.S. Treasury obligations.

Restricted Cash

The Company had $150,000 in restricted cash deposited with separate commercial banks to collateralize a credit card as of June 30, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 
Gains and losses from dispositions of property and equipment are included in income and expense when realized. Amortization of leasehold improvements 
is provided using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying assets. Depreciation of property and 
equipment is provided using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

Laboratory equipment   5 years
Computer and office equipment   3 years
Furniture and fixtures   3-8 years

 
The Company recognizes depreciation and amortization expense in general and administrative expenses and in research and development expenses 

in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, depending on how each category of property and equipment is utilized in 
the Company’s business activities. 
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Trademark

Trademark consists of the Company’s right, title and interest to the CUE BIOLOGICS Mark, and any derivative mark incorporating CUE, 
throughout the world, together with all associated goodwill and common law rights appurtenant thereto, including, but not limited to, any right, title and 
interest in any corporate name, company name, business, name, trade name, dba, domain name, or other source identifier incorporating CUE.

The Company has classified the trademark as a component of other long-term assets, having a useful life of 15 years. The Company evaluates the 
status of this intangible asset for amortization and impairment at each quarter end and year end reporting date. For each of the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded approximately $3,000 and $6,000, respectively, in amortization expense on a straight-line basis. 
 
Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are deferred and presented as a reduction to long-term debt. Debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest rate 
method over the term of the loan. Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations 
and other comprehensive loss.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes collaboration revenue under certain of the Company’s license and collaboration agreements that are within the scope of 
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). The Company’s contracts with customers 
typically include promises related to licenses to intellectual property and research and development services.  If the license to the Company’s intellectual 
property is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified in the arrangement, the Company recognizes revenue from non-
refundable, up-front fees allocated to the license when the license is transferred to the licensee and the licensee is able to use and benefit from the license. 
For licenses that are bundled with other promises, the Company utilizes judgment to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation to determine 
whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for 
purposes of recognizing revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees. Accordingly, the transaction price is generally comprised of a fixed fee due at contract 
inception and variable consideration in the form of milestone payments due upon the achievement of specified events and tiered royalties earned when 
customers recognize net sales of licensed products. The Company measures the transaction price based on the amount of consideration to which it expects 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods and/or services to the customer. The Company utilizes the “most likely amount” method to 
estimate the amount of variable consideration, to predict the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled for its one open contract. Amounts of 
variable consideration are included in the transaction price to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. At the inception of each arrangement 
that includes development and regulatory milestone payments, the Company evaluates whether the associated event is considered probable of achievement 
and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction price using the expected value method.

Research and Development Expenses 

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation costs, fees paid to consultants, outside service providers and organizations 
(including research institutes at universities), facility costs, and development and clinical trial costs with respect to the Company’s drug product candidates. 

Research and development expenses incurred under contracts are expensed ratably over the life of the underlying contracts, unless the achievement 
of milestones, the completion of contracted work, or other information indicates that a different pattern of performance is more appropriate.  Other research 
and development expenses are charged to operations as incurred.  

Nonrefundable advance payments are recognized as an expense as the related services are performed. The Company evaluates whether it expects the 
services to be rendered at each quarter end and year end reporting date. If the Company does not expect the services to be rendered, the advance payment is 
charged to expense. Nonrefundable advance payments for research and development services are included in prepaid and other current assets on the 
balance sheet.  To the extent that a nonrefundable advance payment is for contracted services to be performed within 12 months from the reporting date, 
such advance is included in current assets; otherwise, such advance is included in non-current assets.

The Company evaluates the status of its research and development agreements and contracts, and the carrying amount of the related assets and 
liabilities, at each quarter end and year end reporting date, and adjusts the carrying amounts and their classification on the balance sheet as appropriate. 
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Patent Expenses 

The Company is the exclusive worldwide licensee of, and has patent applications pending for, numerous domestic and foreign patents. Due to the 
significant uncertainty associated with the successful development of one or more commercially viable drug product candidates based on the Company’s 
research efforts and any related patent applications, all patent costs, including patent-related legal fees, filing fees and other costs are charged to general and 
administrative expense as incurred. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, patent expenses were approximately $514,000 and $1,146,000, 
respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, patent expenses were $564,000 and $1,230,000, respectively.

Licensing Fees and Costs 

Licensing fees and costs consist primarily of costs relating to the acquisition of the Company’s license agreement (the “Einstein License 
Agreement”) with the Albert Einstein College of Medicine (“Einstein”), including related royalties, maintenance fees, milestone payments and product 
development costs. Licensing fees and costs are charged to research and development expense as incurred. 

Long-Lived Assets 

The Company reviews long-lived assets, consisting of property and equipment, for impairment at each fiscal year end or when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets may exceed their current fair values. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a 
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair 
value less costs to sell and are no longer depreciated. The Company has not historically recorded any impairment to its long-lived assets. In the future, if 
events or market conditions affect the estimated fair value to the extent that a long-lived asset is impaired, the Company will adjust the carrying value of 
these long-lived assets in the period in which the impairment occurs.  

Leases 
 

The Company accounts for leases under ASC 842 Leases, which requires a lessee to record a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability 
for most lease arrangements on the balance sheet.  Under the standard, disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements to assist users of the 
financial statements with assessing the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases are required. 
 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company periodically issues stock-based awards to officers, directors, employees, Scientific and Clinical Advisory Board members and 
consultants for services rendered. Such issuances vest and expire according to terms established at the issuance date. 

Stock-based payments to officers, directors, employees, Scientific and Clinical Advisory Board members and consultants, including grants of 
employee stock options, are recognized in the financial statements based on their grant date fair values. Stock option grants, which are generally time-
vested, are measured at the grant date fair value and charged to operations on a straight-line basis over the service period, which generally approximates the 
vesting term. The Company also grants performance-based awards periodically to officers of the Company. The Company recognizes compensation costs 
related to performance awards over the requisite service period if and when the Company concludes that it is probable that the performance condition will 
be achieved.  

The fair value of stock options and restricted stock units is determined utilizing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which is affected by several 
variables, including the risk-free interest rate, the expected dividend yield, the life of the equity award, the exercise price of the stock option as compared to 
the fair value of the common stock on the grant date, and the estimated volatility of the common stock over the term of the equity award. 

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Until the Company has  established a trading 
history for its common stock that approximates the expected term of the options, estimated volatility is based on the average historical volatilities of 
comparable public companies in a similar industry. The expected dividend yield is based on the current yield at the grant date; the Company has never 
declared or paid dividends and has no plans to do so for the foreseeable future. As permitted by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, due to the Company’s 
limited trading history and option activity, management 
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utilizes the simplified method to estimate the expected term of options at the date of grant. The exercise price is determined based on the fair value of our 
common stock at the date of grant. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

The Company recognizes the fair value of stock-based compensation in general and administrative expenses and in research and development 
expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, depending on the type of services provided by the recipient of 
the equity award. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Components of comprehensive income or loss, including net income or loss, are reported in the financial statements in the period in which they are 
recognized.  Other comprehensive income or loss is defined as the change in equity during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances 
from non-owner sources.  Net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) are reported net of any related tax effect to arrive at comprehensive 
income (loss).  Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income (loss) as well as changes in stockholders’ equity that result from transactions and 
economic events other than those with stockholders.  The Company’s only element of other comprehensive income (loss) in periods presented was 
unrealized gain or loss on available-for-sale securities.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share 

The Company’s computation of earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) for the respective periods includes basic and diluted EPS. Basic EPS is measured 
as the income (loss) attributable to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted 
EPS is similar to basic EPS but presents the dilutive effect on a per share basis of potential common shares that would result from the exercise of 
outstanding stock options and warrants as if they had been exercised at the beginning of the periods presented, or issuance date, if later. Potential common 
shares that have an anti-dilutive effect (i.e., those that increase income per share or decrease loss per share) are excluded from the calculation of diluted 
EPS. Basic and diluted loss per common share is the same for all periods presented because all outstanding stock options and warrants are anti-dilutive. 

Per ASC 260-10-45-13, shares issuable for little to no consideration should be included in the number of outstanding shares used for basic EPS. The 
FASB proposed that warrants or options exercisable for little to no cost (sometimes referred to as “penny warrants”) be included in the denominator of 
basic EPS (and therefore diluted EPS) once there were no further vesting conditions or contingencies associated with them. The Company included 
1,531,440 pre-funded warrants in the denominator of basic EPS at June 30, 2023.

At June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company excluded the outstanding securities summarized below, which entitle the holders thereof to acquire shares 
of common stock, from its calculation of earnings per share, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. 
 

    June 30,  
    2023   2022  
Common stock warrants     10,719,846     789,358  
Common stock options     7,104,675     6,306,354  
Nonvested restricted stock units     -     6,667  
Total     17,824,521     7,102,379  

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The authoritative guidance with respect to fair value established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value into three levels and requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of three categories, as 
presented below.

Level 1.   Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for an identical asset or liability that the Company has the ability to access as of 
the measurement date. Financial assets and liabilities utilizing Level 1 inputs include active exchange-traded securities and exchange-based derivatives.

Level 2.   Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, which are directly observable for the asset or liability or indirectly observable 
through corroboration with observable market data. Financial assets and liabilities utilizing Level 2 inputs include fixed income securities, non-exchange-
based derivatives, mutual funds, and fair-value hedges.
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Level 3.   Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data for the asset or liability which requires the reporting entity to develop its 
own assumptions. Financial assets and liabilities utilizing Level 3 inputs include infrequently traded non-exchange-based derivatives and commingled 
investment funds and are measured using present value pricing models.

The Company determines the level in the fair value hierarchy within which each fair value measurement falls in its entirety, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. In determining the appropriate levels, the Company performs an analysis of the 
assets and liabilities at each reporting period end.

The Company had approximately $52,901,000 in cash equivalents and approximately $4,988,000 in short-term marketable securities that were 
measured and recorded at fair value on the Company’s balance sheet as of June 30, 2023. The Company had approximately $45,423,000 in cash 
equivalents and approximately $24,675,000 in short-term marketable securities that were measured and recorded at fair value on the Company’s balance 
sheet at December 31, 2022.

The carrying value of financial instruments (consisting of cash, a certificate of deposit, accounts payable, accrued compensation and accrued 
expenses) is considered to be representative of their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of those instruments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-13, Financial 
Instruments-Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (Topic 326) (CECL). The new standard requires entities to measure all 
expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable 
forecasts. The new standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim reporting periods within each 
annual reporting period for smaller reporting companies. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13 but there was no financial impact to the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 or for the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, authoritative guidance, if currently adopted, would have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial statement presentation or disclosures.

3. Fair Value 

The Company accounts for its financial assets and liabilities using fair value measurements. The authoritative accounting guidance defines fair 
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as 
the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset 
or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.  

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, and indicate the level of the fair value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair value:
 

    Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2023  
    (in thousands)  

   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Fair Value  
Cash equivalents   $ 52,901     $ —     $ —     $ 52,901  
Marketable securities     —     $ 4,988       —       4,988  
Total   $ 52,901     $ 4,988     $ —     $ 57,889  
                         

    Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2022  
    (in thousands)  

   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Fair Value  
Cash equivalents   $ 45,423     $ —     $ —     $ 45,423  
Marketable securities     —       24,675       —       24,675  
Total   $ 45,423     $ 24,675     $ —     $ 70,098  

 
As of June 30, 2023, the Company reported approximately $52,901,000 and $4,988,000 in cash equivalents and marketable securities, respectively. 

The Company measures the cash equivalents that are invested in money market funds using Level 1 inputs for identical securities. The Company measures 
the fair value of marketable securities that are invested in U.S. Treasury securities using Level 2 inputs and primarily relies on quoted prices in active 
markets for similar marketable securities. As of December 31, 2022, the 
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Company reported approximately $45,423,000 and $24,675,000 in cash equivalents and marketable securities, respectively. During the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2023, and the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3. 

The carrying values of accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, other current assets, debt, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their 
fair value due to the short-term nature of these balances.
 

4. Marketable Securities

As of June 30, 2023, the Company had marketable securities that consisted of $4,988,000. The Company had marketable securities that consisted of 
$24,675,000 at December 31, 2022. The following table presents the Company's marketable securities at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

 
    June 30, 2023  

(In thousands)   Amortized Cost    
Gross Unrealized

Gains    
Gross Unrealized

Losses     Fair Value  

U.S. Treasury Securities   $ 4,993     $ —     $ (5 )   $ 4,988  
   $ 4,993     $ —     $ (5 )   $ 4,988  
             

    December 31, 2022  

(In thousands)   Amortized Cost    
Gross Unrealized

Gains    
Gross Unrealized

Losses     Fair Value  

U.S. Treasury Securities   $ 24,771     $ —     $ (96 )   $ 24,675  
   $ 24,771     $ —     $ (96 )   $ 24,675  
             
 
At June 30, 2023, the Company's marketable securities consisted of $4,993,000 of investments that mature within 12 months and the Company recorded an 
unrealized loss of $5,000 at June 30, 2023. At December 31, 2022, the Company's marketable securities consisted of $24,771,000 of investments that 
mature within 12 months and the Company recorded an unrealized loss on investments of $96,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consisted of the following:
 

   
June 30,

2023    
December 31,

2022  
    (in thousands)  

Laboratory equipment   $ 5,205     $ 5,246  
Furniture and fixtures     81       81  
Computer and office equipment     296       296  
Leasehold improvements     118       118  
     5,699       5,741  
Less accumulated depreciation     (4,507 )     (4,242 )

Net property and equipment   $ 1,192     $ 1,499  
 

16



 
Depreciation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $132,000 and $212,000, respectively. Depreciation 

expense for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $307,000 and $432,000, respectively. Depreciation expense for the six 
months ended June 30, 2023 excludes trademark amortization expense of approximately $6,000. Depreciation expense for the six months ended June 30, 
2022 excludes trademark amortization expense of approximately $6,000, and amortization of capitalized license expenses of approximately $80,000. 
During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company sold fully depreciated lab equipment with an acquisition cost of $41,450 and collected cash of 
$2,000. The Company recorded a gain on the sale of fixed assets of $2,000, which is presented in other income on the consolidated statements of operations 
and other comprehensive loss. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company sold furniture and fixtures with an acquisition cost of $15,000 and 
collected cash of $3,000. The Company recorded a loss on the sale of fixed assets of $4,000, which is presented in other income on the consolidated 
statements of operations and other comprehensive loss. 

6.  Loan with Silicon Valley Bank

On February 15, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), with Silicon Valley 
Bank, as lender (“Lender”). The Company drew $10,000,000 in term loans under the Loan Agreement (the "Term Loans") on the Closing Date. The Loan 
Agreement was amended in April 2023.  

The Term Loans bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to the greater of (A) the prime rate (as published in the money rates section of The 
Wall Street Journal) plus 2.25% and (B) 5.50%. The Term Loans are interest only from the Closing Date through June 30, 2023, after which the Company 
is required to pay 30 equal monthly installments of principal. At June 30, 2023, the interest rate was 10.5% based on the prime rate plus 2.25%.  

 The Term Loans may be prepaid in full prior to February 15, 2024 with payment of a 2.00% prepayment premium, on or after which they may be 
prepaid in full with payment of a 1.00% prepayment premium. Upon prepayment or repayment in full of the Term Loans, the Company will be required to 
pay a one-time final payment fee equal to 5.00% of the original principal amount of any funded Term Loans being repaid. This one-time final payment fee 
is recorded to interest expense using the effective interest method over the period of the Term Loans in the consolidated statements of operation and other 
comprehensive loss.  

The Term Loans and related obligations under the Loan Agreement are secured by substantially all of the Company’s properties, rights and assets, 
except for its intellectual property which is subject to a negative pledge under the Loan Agreement.

The Loan Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, events of default and covenants, including a requirement that the Company 
maintain in accounts of the Company at the Lender unrestricted and unencumbered cash equal to the lesser of all of the Company’s cash or $20,000,000. 
On March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank ("SVB") was closed by state regulators and the Federal Deposit Insurance Company ("FDIC") was appointed 
receiver for the bank. The FDIC created a successor bridge bank, Silicon Valley Bridge Bank, N.A. (“SVBB”) and all deposits of SVB were transferred to 
SVBB under a systemic risk exception approved by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve and the FDIC. SVBB continues to hold the 
Company’s Term Loans under the same existing terms and covenants which were in place with SVB.  

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recognized interest expense related to the Term Loans of $350,000 and 
$594,000, respectively, and $33,000 and $65,000, respectively, in interest expense related to accretion of the final payment. During the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized interest expense related to the Term Loans of $150,000 and $171,000, respectively, and $43,000 in 
interest expense related to accretion of the final payment for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2022.

 

The following tables present the aggregate maturities of long-term and current portion of debt as of June 30, 2023 (in thousands):
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Year Aggregate Minimum Payments     
2023 $   2,000     
2024     4,000     
2025     4,000     
Total maturities $   10,000     
          
          

Total long-term debt       $ 6,000  
Accretion of final payment     174  
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs         (55 )
Long-term debt, net   $ 6,118  

          
Total current portion of long-term debt       $ 4,000  
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs         (37 )
Current portion of long-term debt, net   $ 3,963  
 
 
Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are deferred and presented as a reduction to long-term debt. Debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest rate 
method over the term of the loan. Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive loss. The Company incurred approximately $141,748 in debt issuance costs related to the Loan Agreement. For the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recorded approximately $9,000 and $18,000, respectively, in amortization of debt issuance costs to interest 
expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recorded 
approximately $9,000 and $12,000, respectively, in amortization of debt issuance costs to interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss.
 
7.      Stock-Based Compensation 

Stock Option Valuation 

For stock options requiring an assessment of value during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of each stock option award 
was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model utilizing the following assumptions: 
 

    June 30, 2023
Risk-free interest rate   3.4% - 3.99%
Expected dividend yield   0%
Expected volatility   97.03% - 103.8%
Expected life   5.50 to 6.25 years
     

    June 30, 2022
Risk-free interest rate   1.53% - 2.56%
Expected dividend yield   0%
Expected volatility   92.1% - 95.7%
Expected life   5.50 to 6.25 years
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A summary of stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2023 is as follows: 

 

   
Number of

Shares    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted 
Average

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life 
(in Years)  

Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2022     6,173,867     $ 9.60       5.05  
Granted     1,461,900       3.25       —  
Exercised     (165,602 )     2.86       —  
Cancelled     (365,490 )     7.18       —  
Stock options outstanding at June 30, 2023     7,104,675       8.58       5.76  
Stock options exercisable at June 30, 2023     4,451,956     $ 9.70       4.00  

 
The Company recognized approximately $2,037,000 and $4,035,000 in stock-based compensation expense during the three and six months ended 

June 30, 2023, respectively, related to stock options activity. As of June 30, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense was approximately 
$10,950,000, which is expected to be recognized as an operating expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive 
loss over the weighted average remaining period of 2.49 years.  During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company granted stock options 
to purchase 140,000 shares of common stock with a weighted average grant date fair value of $3.75 per share and stock options to purchase 1,461,900 
shares of common stock with a weighted average grant date fair value of $3.25 per share, respectively. 

 
The Company recognized approximately $2,276,000 and $4,493,000 in stock-based compensation expense during the three and six months ended 

June 30, 2022, respectively, related to stock options activity. As of June 30, 2022, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense was approximately 
$16,175,000, which is expected to be recognized as an operating expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive 
loss over the weighted average remaining period of 2.31 years. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company granted stock options to purchase 
816,000 shares of common stock with a weighted average grant date fair value of $7.06 per share. No stock options were granted during the three months 
ended June 30, 2022. 

The intrinsic value of exercisable but unexercised in-the-money stock options at June 30, 2023 was approximately $442,000, based on a weighted 
average grant date fair value of $9.70 per share on June 30, 2023.  
 

Restricted Stock Units 
On October 3, 2019, the Company granted 100,000 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with time-based vesting conditions to an executive officer 

having an average grant date fair value of $7.53 per share. The RSUs vested in three equal installments beginning on the grant date, and annually on each 
anniversary of the grant date thereafter. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis.

 
On February 5, 2020, the Company granted 150,000 RSUs with time-based vesting conditions to an executive officer. One-half of the RSUs vested 

on September 30, 2021, and the balance vested on March 31, 2022. On March 31, 2020, the Company granted 50,000 RSUs with time-based vesting 
conditions to an executive officer. The RSUs vested in three equal installments beginning on the grant date, and annually on each anniversary of the grant 
date thereafter. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis.

On August 21, 2020, the Company granted 20,000 RSUs with time-based vesting conditions to an executive officer.  The RSUs vest in three equal 
installments beginning on the grant date, and annually on each anniversary of the grant date thereafter, subject to the recipient’s continued service on each 
applicable vesting date. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis.

 
The Company recognized approximately $0 in stock-based compensation during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 related to RSU 

activity. As of June 30, 2023, total unrecognized stock-based compensation was fully recognized as an operating expense in the Company’s consolidated 
statements of operations and other comprehensive loss.  The Company recognized approximately $33,000 and $827,000 in stock-based compensation 
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, related to RSU activity. As of June 30, 2022, total unrecognized stock-based 
compensation was approximately $19,000.  
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Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was included in the Company’s consolidated 
statements of operations and other comprehensive loss as follows: 

 

   
Three Months Ended

June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)   2023     2022     2023     2022  
General and administrative   $ 962     $ 1,012     $ 1,850     $ 2,648  
Research and development     1,075       1,297       2,185       2,672  
Total   $ 2,037     $ 2,309     $ 4,035     $ 5,320  

 

8.        Warrants

The Company has one tranche of common stock warrants outstanding at June 30, 2023.  The Company issued warrants exercisable for 1,500 shares 
of common stock on June 15, 2015 with an exercise price of $2.70 per share, which warrants expired at the end of their 7-year term on June 15, 2022. The 
Company issued another tranche of warrants exercisable for an aggregate of 882,071 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $9.38 per share 
when issued on December 27, 2017, which warrants expired at the end of their 5-year term on December 26, 2022. On November 16, 2022, the Company 
issued in a private placement 9,188,406 warrants with an exercise price of $3.93 and 1,531,440 pre-funded warrants.

Each tranche of warrants was evaluated under ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and the 
Company determined that equity classification was appropriate. The Company determined equity classification for both warrants and pre-funded warrants 
as they do not embody an obligation for the Company to repurchase its shares and permit the holders to receive a fixed number of shares of common stock 
upon exercise. Per ASC 815-40-25, the Company will account for the warrants and pre-funded warrants as equity, as the Company does not provide to the 
holder a fixed or guaranteed return. 

The Company recorded cash received from 1,531,440 pre-funded warrants to additional paid in capital in the amount of $4,999,999. The Company 
recorded placement fees and expenses related to the sale of pre-funded warrants in the amount of $299,999 as a charge to additional paid in capital in the 
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2022. 

Per ASC 260-10-45-13, shares issuable for little to no consideration should be included in the number of outstanding shares used for basic EPS. The 
FASB proposed that warrants or options exercisable for little to no cost (sometimes referred to as “penny warrants”) be included in the denominator of 
basic EPS (and therefore diluted EPS) once there were no further vesting conditions or contingencies associated with them. The Company included 
1,531,440 pre-funded warrants in the denominator of basic EPS at June 30, 2023.  
 

The following table shows common stock warrants outstanding as of June 30, 2023:
 

  
Warrant Issued

November 16, 2022     Total  

Balance at December 31, 2022     10,719,846       10,719,846  
Issued via cashless exercises     —       —  
Withheld as payment to cover issued shares     —       —  
Expired     —       —  
Issued     —       —  
Balance at June 30, 2023     10,719,846       10,719,846  
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9.        Collaboration Revenue

The Company recognizes collaboration revenue under certain of the Company’s license or collaboration agreements that are within the scope of 
ASC 606. The Company’s contracts with customers typically include promises related to licenses to intellectual property and research and development 
services.  If the license to the Company’s intellectual property is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified in the 
arrangement, the Company recognizes revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees allocated to the license when the license is transferred to the licensee 
and the licensee is able to use and benefit from the license. For licenses that are bundled with other promises, the Company utilizes judgment to assess the 
nature of the combined performance obligation to determine whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and if, 
over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for purposes of recognizing revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees. The Company’s contracts 
may include options to acquire additional goods and/or services. 

The terms of the Company’s arrangements with customers typically include the payment of one or more of the following: (i) non-refundable, up-
front payment, and pass through costs related to research activities, (ii) development, regulatory and commercial milestone payments, (iii) future options 
and (iv) royalties on net sales of licensed products. Accordingly, the transaction price is generally comprised of a fixed fee due at contract inception and 
variable consideration in the form of pass through costs and milestone payments due upon the achievement of specified events and tiered royalties earned 
when customers recognize net sales of licensed products. The Company measures the transaction price based on the amount of consideration to which it 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods and/or services to the customer. The Company utilizes the “most likely amount” 
method to estimate the amount of variable consideration, to predict the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled for its one open contract. 
Amounts of variable consideration are included in the transaction price to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 
cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Milestone 
payments that are not within the control of the Company or the licensee, such as those dependent upon receipt of regulatory approval, are not considered to 
be probable of achievement until the triggering event occurs. At the end of each reporting period, the Company reevaluates the probability of achievement 
of each milestone and any related constraint, and, if necessary, adjusts its estimate of the overall transaction price. Any such adjustments are recorded on a 
cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenue and net loss in the period of adjustment.

For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based upon the achievement of a certain level of product sales, 
the Company recognizes revenue upon the later of: (i) when the related sales occur or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the 
payment has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied). To date, the Company has not recognized any development, regulatory or commercial 
milestones or royalty revenue resulting from any of its collaboration arrangements. Consideration that would be received for optional goods and/or services 
is excluded from the transaction price at contract inception.

The Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation identified in the contract on a relative standalone selling price basis, 
when applicable. However, certain components of variable consideration are allocated specifically to one or more particular performance obligations in a 
contact to the extent both of the following criteria are met: (i) the terms of the payment relate specifically to the efforts to satisfy the performance obligation 
or transfer the distinct good or service and (ii) allocating the variable amount of consideration entirely to the performance obligation or the distinct good or 
service is consistent with the allocation objective of the standard whereby the amount allocated depicts the amount of consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services. The Company develops assumptions that require judgment to determine 
the standalone selling price for each performance obligation identified in each contract. The key assumptions utilized in determining the standalone selling 
price for each performance obligation may include forecasted revenues, development timelines, estimated research and development costs, discount rates, 
likelihood of exercise and probabilities of technical and regulatory success.

Revenue is recognized based on the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to each respective performance obligation when or as the 
performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a promised good and/or service to the customer. For performance obligations that are satisfied over time, 
the Company recognizes revenue by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance obligation using a single method of 
measuring progress which depicts the performance in transferring control of the associated goods and/or services to the customer. The Company uses input 
methods to measure the progress toward the complete satisfaction of performance obligations satisfied over time. The Company evaluates the measure of 
progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of performance and related revenue recognition. Any such adjustments are recorded on 
a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenue and net loss in the period of adjustment. The Company measures progress toward satisfaction of 
the performance obligation over time as effort is expended.
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Collaboration Agreement with LG Chem

On November 6, 2018, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement (the “LG Chem Collaboration Agreement”) with LG Chem Ltd. (“LG 
Chem”) related to the development of the Company’s Immuno-STATs focused in the field of oncology.  Pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration 
Agreement, the Company granted LG Chem an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize the Company’s lead product, CUE-101, as 
well as Immuno-STATs that target T cells against two additional cancer antigens, in certain Asian countries (collectively, the “LG Chem Territory”).  On 
April 30, 2021, LG Chem’s option pursuant to the Global License and Collaboration Agreement entered into between the Company and LG Chem on 
December 18, 2019 and as amended on November 5, 2020 (the "Global License and Collaboration Agreement"), expired, and accordingly the Company no 
longer has any material obligations under the Global License and Collaboration Agreement.  In June 2021, after ongoing discussions regarding the selection 
of the second of the two additional cancer antigens, LG Chem and the Company agreed to let the selection period expire without a second antigen being 
selected.  The Company retains rights to develop and commercialize all assets included in the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement in the United States and 
in global markets outside of the LG Chem Territory.  In exchange for the licenses and other rights granted to LG Chem under the LG Chem Collaboration 
Agreement, LG Chem made a $5.0 million equity investment in common stock of the Company and a $5.0 million nonrefundable up-front cash payment. 
The Company is also eligible to receive up to an additional $400.0 million in research, development, regulatory and sales milestones. In addition, the LG 
Chem Collaboration Agreement also provides that LG Chem will pay the Company tiered single-digit percentage royalties on net sales of commercialized 
drug product candidates in the LG Chem Territory.  

On May 16, 2019, LG Chem paid the Company a $2.5 million milestone payment for the U.S. Food and Drug Administration’s (“FDA”) acceptance 
of the investigational new drug application (“IND”) for the Company’s lead drug product candidate, CUE-101, pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration 
Agreement.  The $2.5 million milestone payment was recorded as a contract liability upon receipt of payment as it requires deferral of revenue recognition 
to a future period until the Company performs its obligations under the arrangement. Of the $2.5 million milestone payment, approximately $412,500 was 
recognized as tax withholding, shown as income tax expense on the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss. 

On December 7, 2020, the Company earned a $1.25 million milestone payment on the selection of a pre-clinical candidate pursuant to the LG Chem 
Collaboration Agreement.  The $1.25 million milestone payment was recorded as a contract liability upon receipt. Revenue related to this milestone 
payment was recognized by the Company pursuant to the Company’s revenue recognition policy in relation to the performance of its obligations related to 
the development of this pre-clinical candidate. Of the $1.25 million milestone payment, approximately $206,250 was withheld as payment of foreign tax 
withholding and shown as income tax expense on the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss. 

On November 23, 2021 the Company earned a $3 million milestone payment for the selection of a clinical product candidate in partnership with LG 
Chem. The $3 million milestone payment was recorded as a contract liability upon receipt. Revenue related to this milestone payment was recognized by 
the Company pursuant to the Company’s revenue recognition policy in relation to the performance of its obligations related to the development of this 
preclinical candidate. Of the $3 million milestone payment, approximately $495,000 was withheld as payment of foreign tax withholding and shown as 
income tax expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Cash was collected in relation to this milestone payment in 
February 2022.

Aside from the $6.75 million in milestone payments earned to date, the Company does not believe that any variable consideration should be 
included in the transaction price as of June 30, 2023.  Such assessment considered the application of the constraint to ensure that estimates of variable 
consideration would be included in the transaction price only to the extent the Company had a high degree of confidence that revenue would not be 
reversed in a subsequent reporting period. The Company will re-evaluate the transaction price, including the estimated variable consideration included in 
the transaction price and all constrained amounts, in each reporting period and as other changes in circumstances occur. For the three months ended June 
30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized revenue of approximately $29,000 and approximately $26,000, respectively, related to the LG Chem 
Collaboration Agreement. For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized revenue of approximately $66,000 and 
approximately $1,026,000, respectively, related to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. The Company did not record short or long-term research and 
development liabilities on its balance sheet dated June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 as the performance obligation was met and completed. Research 
and development cost sharing provisions under the agreement expired on March 31, 2022.

Collaboration and Option Agreement with Ono

On February 22, 2023, the Company entered into a strategic collaboration agreement (the "Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement") with Ono 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ("Ono") to further develop CUE-401 and provide dedicated resources and capabilities to help advance CUE-401 toward the clinic. 
Under the terms of the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement, Ono paid the Company an upfront payment and agreed to fully fund all research 
activities related to CUE-401 through a specified option period. During this 
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option period, the Company will be responsible for the research and development of CUE-401. Upon Ono’s exercise of its option to license CUE-401, the 
Company will receive an option exercise payment and be eligible for development and commercial milestone payments up to an aggregate of 
approximately $220 million, as well as tiered royalties on sales. Upon any such exercise, Ono will receive worldwide rights to develop and commercialize 
CUE-401, with the Company retaining a 50% co-development and co-commercialization right in the United States. 

Under the terms of the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement, the Company will perform research activities related to CUE-401 through a 
specified option period of 24 months (the “Research Term”). During this Research Term, the Company will be responsible for the execution of scientific 
investigation, nonclinical, preclinical, and clinical drug research and development activities designed to progress CUE-401 toward a potential IND and 
regulatory approval (such activities, collectively referred to as “R&D”). Ono is responsible for the funding of R&D activities performed by the Company. 
Per the agreement, as consideration for the R&D activities performed by the Company, Ono (i) made a one-time, non-refundable, non-creditable upfront 
payment of $3.0 million to the Company and (ii) will reimburse the Company for all costs incurred in conducting research, including (a) pass through costs 
from third party contractors and (b) full time employee salaries capped at $2.1 million in the first 18 months of the Research Term. The term of the Ono 
Collaboration and Option Agreement extends until the expiration of the Research Term which cannot exceed a 24-month period. The Company has 
forecasted that it will be able to complete the R&D activities in 18 months based on the initial research and development plans it has established. The 
Company received the $3.0 million upfront payment in March 2023.

Aside from the $3.0 million upfront payment and funding related to pass through costs, the Company does not believe that any variable 
consideration should be included in the transaction price as of June 30, 2023.  Such assessment considered the application of the constraint to ensure that 
estimates of variable consideration would be included in the transaction price only to the extent the Company had a high degree of confidence that revenue 
would not be reversed in a subsequent reporting period. The Company will re-evaluate the transaction price, including the estimated variable consideration 
included in the transaction price and all constrained amounts, in each reporting period and as other changes in circumstances occur. For the three months 
ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized revenue of approximately $1,353,000 and $0, respectively, related to the Ono Collaboration and 
Option Agreement. For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized revenue of approximately $1,504,000 and $0, respectively, 
related to the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement. The Company recorded short and long-term research and development liabilities on its balance 
sheet dated June 30, 2023, of approximately $2,547,000 and $136,000, respectively. The Company did not recognize short or long-term research and 
development liabilities on its balance sheet as of December 31, 2022, as the agreement was executed in February 2023.

Capitalization of Contract Costs

The Company considered the capitalization of contract costs under the guidance in ASC 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred Costs: Contracts with 
Customers. As it related to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, the Company capitalized license expenses of approximately $908,000 as of June 30, 
2023, paid to Einstein pursuant to the Einstein License Agreement which requires the Company to pay a percentage of sublicenses related to the 
Company’s patent rights for components of its core technology that is licensed from Einstein. This amount is comprised of approximately $438,000 of 
capitalized license expenses related to the up-front payment received from LG Chem in December 2018, approximately $313,000 in capitalized license 
expenses related to the milestone payment received in June 2019, and approximately $157,000 in capitalized license expenses related to the milestone 
payment received in December 2020, net of accumulated amortization on all capitalized license expenses of approximately $908,000.  As of June 30, 2023 
and December 31, 2022, no capitalized license expenses net of accumulated amortization were included in prepaid expenses and other short-term assets 
related to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. 
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10.       Commitments and Contingencies 

Einstein License Agreement 

In 2015, the Company entered into the Einstein License Agreement with Einstein for certain patent rights relating to the Company’s core technology 
platform for the engineering of biologics to control T cell activity, precision, immune-modulatory drug product candidates, and two supporting technologies 
that enable the discovery of costimulatory signaling molecules (ligands) and T cell targeting peptides. The Company entered into an amended and restated 
license agreement on July 31, 2017, as amended on October 2018, which modified certain obligations of the parties under the Einstein License Agreement. 
For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred approximately $29,000 and $0, respectively, in fees and expenses to Einstein 
related to this license.  For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred approximately $76,000 and $52,000, respectively, in fees 
and expenses to Einstein related to this license. 

The Company’s remaining commitments with respect to the Einstein License Agreement are based on the attainment of future milestones. The 
aggregate amount of milestone payments made under the Einstein License Agreement may equal up to $1.85 million for each product, process or service 
that use the patents covered by the Einstein License Agreement, including certain technology received from Einstein related thereto (the "Licensed 
Product"), and up to $1.85 million for each new indication of a Licensed Product. Additionally, the aggregate amount of one-time milestone payments 
based on cumulative sales of all Licensed Products may equal up to $5.75 million. The Company is also party to a material transfer agreement with 
Einstein focusing on infectious disease and assessing application of the Company's Neo-STAT asset for the treatment of infectious disease.   

Collaboration Agreement with LG Chem

See discussion of the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement in Note 9.

Collaboration Agreement with Ono

See discussion of the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement in Note 9.

Contingencies 

The Company accrues for contingent liabilities to the extent that the liability is probable and estimable. There are no accruals for contingent 
liabilities in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company may be subject to various legal proceedings from time to time as part of its business. As of June 30, 2023, the Company was not a 
party to any legal proceedings or threatened legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of which, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material 
adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations.

11.      Leases
 

On March 28, 2022, the Company entered into a License Agreement (the “License”) with MIL 40G, LLC (the “Licensor”), pursuant to which the 
Company leases approximately 13,000 square feet of office, research and development and laboratory space located at 40 Guest Street, Boston, 
Massachusetts 02135 (the “Premises”). The Company relocated its corporate headquarters to the Premises in April 2022. On March 28, 2022, the Company 
terminated its office and lab space lease in Cambridge Massachusetts (the “Laboratory and Office Lease”) effective April 30, 2022. The Company 
performed an analysis of the accounting implications of this termination based on ASC 360 Impairments and Abandonments guidance. At March 31, 2022, 
the Company recorded an adjustment to decrease the right-of-use asset and lease liability of approximately $8,124,000 and $8,382,000, respectively, and 
recorded a gain on right-of-use asset termination included in the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss of approximately 
$258,000.

The Company recognized a right of use asset of approximately $9,056,000 and an operating lease liability of approximately $9,056,000 which were 
recorded as of the Term Commencement Date (as defined below) related to the License.

The term of the License commenced on April 15, 2022 (the “Term Commencement Date”) and expires on April 14, 2026 (the “Term”). The License 
has a monthly rental rate of $200,700 for the first year of the Term, $208,728 for the second year of the Term, $217,077 for the third year of the Term and 
$225,760 for the remainder of the Term. Pursuant to the License, the Company prepaid 
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two months of rent and a security deposit. The Licensor is obligated under the License to provide certain services to the Company, including providing 
certain gases, chemicals and equipment to the Premises’ laboratory space, IT support, security, office support and health and safety training. The Licensor 
has the right to terminate the License for Cause (as defined in the License). 

On May 3, 2022, the Company entered into the First Amendment to the License ("First Amendment”) with the Licensor, pursuant to which the 
License was expanded to include an additional room effective July 15, 2022. In consideration of the First Amendment, the security deposit was increased 
from $225,760 to $235,884 effective July 15, 2022. Upon execution of the First Amendment, the Company prepaid three months of rent, two of which will 
be held in escrow and credited against future rent payments and the other of which was applied to the first month’s rent. Effective July 15, 2022, the 
monthly rental rate under the First Amendment increased to $209,700 from $200,700. The Company recognized a right of use asset of approximately 
$369,000 and a short and long term operating lease liability of approximately $100,300 and $260,600, respectively, using the weighted average discount 
rate of 8%, which were recorded as of the Term Commencement Date related to the License.

On May 31, 2022, the Company entered into an operating lease for additional laboratory space at 40 Guest Street, Boston, Massachusetts for the 
period from December 1, 2022 through December 1, 2024 (the “40G Additional Laboratory Lease”). The 40G Additional Laboratory Lease contains 
escalating payments during the lease period. The monthly rental rate under the 40G Additional Laboratory Lease is $59,152 for the first 12 months and 
$61,519 for the remainder of the term. Under the terms of this lease agreement, the Company prepaid three months of rent, two of which will be held in 
escrow and credited against future rent payments and the other of which was applied to the first month’s rent. The Company recognized a right of use asset 
of approximately $1,307,000 and a short and long term operating lease liability of approximately $712,000 and $535,000, respectively, using the weighted 
average discount rate of 10%, which were recorded as of the Term Commencement Date related to the 40G Additional Laboratory Lease.

On September 9, 2022, the Company terminated its lab space lease in Cambridge, Massachusetts with MIL 21E, LLC with an effective termination 
date of December 6, 2022. The Company performed an analysis of the accounting implications of this termination based on ASC 360 Impairments and 
Abandonments guidance. The Company recorded an entry to remove the remaining lease liability and right of use asset of $963,000 and $945,000, 
respectively. The difference between the carrying amounts of the right of use asset and lease liability of $19,000 was recorded at termination in September 
2022, to gain on right of use asset and included in the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recorded approximately $134,000 and $280,000, respectively, in non-cash interest 
expense to the lease liability. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recorded approximately $128,000 in non-cash interest 
expense to the lease liability.

At June 30, 2023, the Company recorded approximately $7,786,000 to operating lease right-of-use asset, and approximately $3,365,000 and 
$4,598,000 to the short-term and long-term operating lease liability, respectively.  At December 31, 2022, the Company recorded approximately $9,203,000 
to operating lease right-of-use asset, and approximately $3,300,000 and $6,018,000 to short-term and long-term operating lease liability, respectively.  As 
of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, a security deposit of approximately $595,000 was included in deposits on the Company’s consolidated balance 
sheet related to the 40G Additional Laboratory Lease. Cash was collected in the amount of $0 and approximately $199,000 for the Company's former 
Cambridge 21 Erie Laboratory space during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under the leases in effect at June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

Year   (in thousands)  
2023     1,666  
2024     3,368  
2025     2,799  
2026     818  
Total lease payments   $ 8,651  
Less: present value discount     (688 )

Total   $ 7,963  
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Total rent expense of approximately $857,000 and $1,105,000 was included in the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive 

loss for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Total rent expense of approximately $1,713,000 and $2,439,000 was included in the 
consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Other information 
pertaining to the Company’s operating leases for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 is summarized in the table below.
 

Other information (in thousands)  

Three Months
Ended

June 30, 2023  

Six Months
Ended

June 30, 2023  
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement
   of lease liabilities:

         

Operating cash flows from operating leases   $ (702 ) $ (1,354 )
Operating lease cost   $ 857   $ 1,713  
Weighted average discount rate   5.75%   5.75%  
Weighted average remaining lease term   3.79 years   3.79 years  
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Cue Biopharma, Inc. and its subsidiary 
(“Cue Biopharma”, “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”) should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and accompanying notes included 
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the financial statements and accompanying notes thereto for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 and the 
related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on March 21, 2023, or the 2022 Annual Report.

Overview
 

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing a novel class of injectable biologics, engineered to selectively engage and modulate 
disease-relevant T cells directly within the patient’s body. Through protein engineering, it is our aim to emulate nature's cues, or signals, translating these 
engineered proteins into promising therapeutics comprised of T cell engagers enabling selective modulation of disease-specific T cells. We believe our 
proprietary Immuno-STAT™ (Selective Targeting and Alteration of T Cells) platform, as described below, will enable us to enhance the potential of the 
patient’s own immune system to restore health while avoiding the deleterious side effects of broad immune activation, in the case of cancer, and broad 
immune suppression in the case of autoimmune disease. Our selective immune modulation approach may be deployed for treating cancer, autoimmune 
diseases and chronic infections. In addition to the selective modulation of T cell activity, we believe core features of Immuno-STATs offer competitive 
differentiation and advantages, including modularity, manufacturability, and convenient administration enabling the versatility to treat a broad range of 
disease.  

The core framework of an Immuno-STAT molecule has a stabilized peptide human leukocyte antigen, or pHLA, component that selectively engages 
those T cells harboring T cell receptors, or TCRs, for tumor-specific peptides (representing Signal 1 in the image below). In addition, Immuno-STATs 
contain activating signals (representing Signal 2 in the image below), including modified IL-2 in the case of the CUE-100 series, that can be selectively 
delivered to tumor-specific T cells. We believe this dual requirement of a specific peptide major histocompatibility complex, or pMHC, interacting with its 
corresponding TCR, along with a co-stimulatory signal, such as IL-2, is addressed with our CUE-100 series, and is a core strategic advantage and 
differentiation from other immunotherapies. 

 

The Immuno-STAT Framework: CUE-100 Series 

 

 

With preliminary data from our ongoing clinical trial of our lead drug product candidate, CUE-101, which is representative of the interleukin 2, or 
IL-2, based CUE-100 series, we believe we have demonstrated the potential of our engineered Immuno-STAT platform to improve patient outcomes 
beyond that of current standard of care in treating cancer. The CUE-100 series is designed to exploit the selectivity of the TCR combined with rationally 
engineered IL-2, for selective activation of targeted tumor-specific T cells. As described in further detail below, CUE-101 has demonstrated evidence of 
anti-tumor activity in our ongoing clinical trials by 
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selective activation of anti-cancer T-cells. Furthermore, it has demonstrated a favorable tolerability profile in over 80 patients treated to date with doses up 
to 8mg/kg of CUE-101. In addition to our encouraging CUE-101 clinical data generated to date, we also have emerging data from our ongoing Phase 1 
dose escalation trial of CUE-102, which data further enhances our confidence of the platform's versatility and potential for addressing a broad range of 
cancers. Through these ongoing trials, we continue to develop datasets differentiating the CUE-100 series Immuno-STATs from competing approaches. We 
have also recently observed promising preclinical data pertaining to the potential application of our platform for the treatment of a broad range of 
autoimmune diseases. In February 2023 we announced the establishment of a strategic collaboration with Ono Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., or Ono, focused 
on the development of CUE-401 for the potential treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases through the induction and expansion of regulatory T 
cells, or Tregs.     

Our drug product candidates are in various stages of clinical and preclinical development. The emerging preliminary clinical data for our lead 
candidate, CUE-101, bolsters our belief that we have developed a potential breakthrough approach for modulating disease-relevant T cells directly in the 
patient’s body. However, our activities are also subject to significant risks and uncertainties. We have not yet commenced any commercial revenue-
generating operations, have limited cash flows from operations, and will need to access substantial additional capital to fund our growth and ongoing 
business operations.

Our Pipeline
The pipeline chart below details our current portfolio of oncology assets and their stages of development. We have determined to prioritize and 

strategically focus on our CUE-101 and CUE-102 oncology programs in our IL-2 based CUE-100 series, and we are actively seeking third party support 
through partnerships and collaborations, or alternative funding structures, to further develop CUE-103 and our Neo-STAT™ and RDI-STAT™ programs, as 
well as our programs outside of oncology, including the CUE-300 series and CUE-401 for the treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory disease.
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We have made significant progress advancing the IL-2-based CUE-100 series for oncology. Furthermore we continue to progress forward on our 

strategic collaboration with Ono Pharmaceuticals to develop CUE-401, a preclinical IL-2/TGF-beta based drug product candidate for autoimmune disease. 

 

CUE-101

CUE-101, representative of the CUE-100 series, is our most advanced clinical stage asset in oncology and is being investigated for the treatment of 
human papillomavirus positive ("HPV+") head and neck cancer. We completed enrollment of the expansion phase of our monotherapy Phase 1 clinical trial 
of CUE-101 at the 4 mg/kg recommended Phase 2 dose, or RP2D, for the treatment of third line and beyond recurrent/metastatic head and neck squamous 
cell cancer, or R/M HNSCC patients. These patients had received and failed several prior lines of systemic therapy, including chemotherapy and checkpoint 
inhibitors, or CPIs, such as KEYTRUDA®. 

In this monotherapy trial, CUE-101 has demonstrated evidence of anti-tumor clinical activity as a single agent along with a favorable tolerability 
profile. Of the 19 evaluable patients treated at the RP2D of 4 mg/kg, we observed a confirmed partial response, or PR, lasting for more than 36 weeks and 
seven patients with durable stable disease, defined as stable disease on at least two consecutive post-treatment scans lasting at least 12 weeks. We have also 
observed promising preliminary data with respect to CUE-101’s pharmacokinetic, or PK, and pharmacodynamic, or PD, profile, as well as biomarker data 
with respect to HPV circulating free DNA, or cfDNA, as a potential proxy of anti-tumor response. Of note, one of the patients has demonstrated stable 
disease for over 22 months with no detectable evidence of HPV cfDNA in their blood after commencing treatment with CUE-101. This patient continues 
on treatment in the trial. Furthermore, we have observed a trend of extension in median overall patient survival, or mOS, which is currently approaching 14 
months or greater in third line and beyond patients. This compares favorably to the historical mOS of approximately eight months that was observed with 
pembrolizumab as a monotherapy in second line patients in Merck Sharp & 
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Dohme Corp.'s, or Merck’s, KEYNOTE-40 trial. We continue to follow the patients treated in the monotherapy trial and anticipate this overall survival data 
to continue to mature throughout 2023.

CUE-101 Monotherapy in 3L+ R/M HNSCC: mOS Approaching 14 Months

 

We are currently enrolling patients in a first line, Phase 1 combination trial with Merck’s anti-PD-1 therapy KEYTRUDA (pembrolizumab), the 
current standard of care for first line R/M HNSCC. We completed the dose escalation portion of this trial without observing any dose-limiting-toxicity and 
continue to enroll patients in the expansion phase at the RP2D dose of 4 mg/kg of CUE-101 in combination with the approved dose of KEYTRUDA. The 
waterfall plot below is an update of the plot presented at the American Society of Clinical Oncology, or ASCO, meeting in June 2023. As shown on the 
waterfall plot below, the current ORR in the trial is 44% in the 16 evaluable patients treated with combination therapy at the RP2D of 4 mg/kg of CUE-101 
and 200 mg of KEYTRUDA, including one patient with a confirmed complete response or CR, and six additional patients with partial responses, or PRs, 
five confirmed and one pending follow up scans. The ORR of 44% in all patients with CPS of  ≥ 1, which reflects the levels of PD-L1 expression in the 
tumor, compares favorably to the historical ORR of 19% observed in all patients with CPS of ≥ 1 treated with pembrolizumab monotherapy in Merck's 
KEYNOTE-48 trial. Notably, four out of the seven objective responses in the CUE-101 Phase 1 combination trial were observed in patients with tumors 
with low PD-L1 expression, as evidenced by CPS of less than 20. 

 

CUE-101 in Combination with Pembrolizumab in 1L R/M HNSCC
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The swimmer plot below shows that 16 of the 17 patients treated to date at the RP2D in the ongoing combination trial of CUE-101 and 
pembrolizumab remain alive as of the last follow-up for each patient. Of note, eight of the patients remain on treatment and five patients have lived beyond 
12 months, which was the mOS observed in patients treated with pembrolizumab alone in Merck's KEYNOTE-48 trial. In addition, an extension of 
progression free survival, observed in patients treated with pembrolizumab alone in the KEYNOTE-48 study is emerging in patients treated at the RP2D of 
the combination trial, also shown in the swimmer plot below.  

 

Emerging Trend of Increase in mPFS in CUE-101 in Combination with Pembrolizumab 1L R/M HNSCC

 

The ORR of 44% in all patients with CPS of ≥ 1 compares favorably to the historical ORR of 19% observed in all patients with CPS of ≥ 1 treated 
with pembrolizumab monotherapy in Merck's KEYNOTE-48 trial. As shown below, patients with low CPS (1-19) treated with pembrolizumab alone in the 
KEYNOTE-48 trial had a lower ORR than all treated patients with CPS ≥1. Patients with CPS of 1-19, treated with CUE-101 and pembrolizumab in 
combination in the ongoing trial demonstrated an ORR of 50%, compared 
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to 14.5% observed with pembrolizumab monotherapy in the KEYNOTE-48 trial. We believe that this suggests that CUE-101 and pembrolizumab given in 
combination could expand patient reach in HPV16+ R/M HNSCC patients with low PD-L1 expression. This is particularly important since patients with 
low CPS scores (CPS 1-19) represent approximately 50% of all patients that are CPS positive.

 

Observed Expanded Reach in Patients with Low PD-L1 Expression when Treated with CUE-101 in Combination with Pembrolizumab

 
 

We plan to provide a further update and substantive analysis of this ongoing trial at the upcoming Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer, also known 
as SITC, meeting in November 2023.

We believe the evidence of combination activity of CUE-101 with KEYTRUDA is likely due to their complementary mechanisms of action, 
enabling anti-tumor T cells to effectively recognize and kill target tumor cells.  

We believe that CUE-101 has the potential to enhance the clinical activity of KEYTRUDA as well as other CPIs since the presence of expanded 
tumor-specific T cells is an obligatory pre-requisite for anti-PD-1 therapy. As such, we believe that CUE-101 has the potential to expand patient reach and 
enhance the therapeutic benefit of CPIs. On October 3, 2022, we received Fast Track Designation of CUE-101 for the treatment of R/M HPV+ HNSCC as 
a monotherapy and in combination with KEYTRUDA. As the data from the CUE-101 monotherapy and combination with pembrolizumab study matures, 
we plan to define potential registration paths. 

Importantly, it is our position that the CUE-101 clinical data generated to date has reduced the risk profile of the entire IL-2 based CUE-100 series 
due to the core framework of the CUE-100 series being conserved for each drug product candidate, with the only substantive modification being the 
targeting peptide epitope within the major histocompatibility complex, or MHC, pocket or the human leukocyte antigen, or HLA. Therefore, the core IL-2 
scaffold is a shared molecular feature of all molecules generated within this series, including CUE-102 as described below.

CUE-102

The second drug product candidate in our CUE-100 series, CUE-102, targets Wilms’ Tumor 1 protein, or WT-1, an oncofetal antigen known to be 
over-expressed in more than 20 different cancers, including both solid tumors (such as colorectal, ovarian, pancreatic and lung tumors) and hematologic 
malignancies (such as acute myeloid leukemia, multiple myeloma and myelodysplastic syndromes). In April 2022, we received acceptance from the U.S. 
Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, of our investigational new drug application, or IND, for CUE-102. Based on the premise that CUE-102 shares the 
same core molecular framework as CUE-101, except for the T cell epitope pertaining to HPV-E7 versus WT-1, its IND was supported by clinical and safety 
data from the ongoing 
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CUE-101 monotherapy trial and did not require additional IND-enabling toxicology studies. This supports our premise that each CUE-100 series Immuno-
STAT molecule provides further de-risking and acceleration of subsequent drug product candidates. With CUE-102 we believe that there is a potential to 
reach an even larger patient population than for CUE-101 as WT-1 can potentially treat a number of different types of cancer. We are enrolling patients in a 
Phase 1 monotherapy dose-escalation trial with CUE-102 focused on WT-1-positive recurrent/metastatic gastric, pancreatic, ovarian and colorectal cancers. 
To date, CUE-102 has been well tolerated and no dose limiting toxicities have been observed. We anticipate opening the expansion cohort in patients with 
colorectal cancer and other potential indications in the second half of 2023.

We believe that our CUE-100 series platform can generate multiple additional therapeutic molecules that selectively target tumor-specific antigens. 
Importantly, the modularity of the CUE-100 series platform enables us to generate new drug product candidates targeting tumor antigens that have already 
been clinically validated, resulting in further potential de-risking and accelerated development of future molecules. For example, we have generated 
preclinical proof of concept data supporting the manufacturability and selective biologic activity of Immuno-STATs targeting mutated driver antigens (such 
as KRAS) and broadly expressed cancer antigens (such as MAGE-A4 and PRAME). These Immuno-STAT molecules contain peptide antigens presented on 
different HLA alleles, including HLA-A02, -A03, and -A11. Generating Immuno-STATs across these additional HLA alleles will enhance potential patient 
coverage and market reach globally. Based on the successful validation of the modularity of the core Immuno-STAT scaffold, multiple potential Immuno-
STAT candidate molecules can be considered for nomination as subsequent programs. We are also exploring the application of our Immuno-STAT platform 
to CAR-T and TCR-T therapies to further expand and maintain T-cell levels in the patient's body to potentially increase efficacy of these therapies.

Furthermore, we have expanded the potential reach of the Immuno-STAT platform to address the heterogeneity and diversity present in many 
cancers by developing a derivative scaffold of the CUE-100 series containing stable “peptide-less” or “empty” HLA molecules, to which defined peptides 
of interest may be covalently attached. We refer to this derivative scaffold as Neo-STAT™.   Neo-STAT is designed to provide greater flexibility for 
targeting multiple tumor epitopes, enhancing production efficiencies, and decreasing time and cost associated with manufacturing. We have also generated 
a derivative biologic designed to address a primary resistance mechanism found in a subset of solid tumors. This escape mechanism is based upon evading 
immune surveillance through down-regulation of HLA, thereby making the tumor “invisible” to T cells. This derivative of the CUE-100 series, referred to 
as RDI-STAT™, takes advantage of the clinical validation of the Immuno-STAT platform via the CUE-100 series by deploying an antibody-like targeting 
moiety binding to tumor specific antigens found on the surface of tumor cells. Through this approach, we believe we may be able to “paint” the tumor with 
a viral epitope placed within the HLA pocket of the CUE-100 series Immuno-STAT with the objective of "redirecting" high frequency anti-viral T cells to 
attack the targeted tumor cells. As noted above, we are seeking partnerships to further develop our Neo-STAT and RDI-STAT assets.

In addition to these novel potential approaches to cancer immunotherapy, we have leveraged the modularity of the Immuno-STAT platform to 
develop additional biologic series outside of oncology. For example, CUE-300 and CUE-400, specifically designed through rational protein engineering to 
address distinct therapeutic approaches for treating autoimmune disease. The CUE-300 series incorporates the inhibitory PD-L1 co-modulator for selective 
inhibition of the autoreactive T cell repertoire. For example, CUE-301 has been engineered with an epitope known to be expressed in Type 1 diabetes. The 
CUE-400 series represents a novel class of bispecific molecules designed to selectively induce and expand Tregs. In February 2023, we announced a 
partnership with Ono supporting the development of CUE-401 for the potential treatment of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. 

Plan of Operation

Our technology is in the development phase. We believe that our platforms have the potential for creating a diverse pipeline of promising drug 
product candidates addressing multiple medical indications. We intend to maximize the value and probability of commercialization of our Immuno-STAT 
drug product candidates by focusing on researching, testing, optimizing, conducting pilot studies, performing early-stage clinical development and 
potentially partnering, where appropriate, for more extensive, later stages of clinical development, as well as seeking extensive patent protection and 
intellectual property development.

Since we are a development-stage company, the majority of our business activities to date and our planned future activities will be devoted to 
furthering research and development.  

A fundamental part of our corporate development strategy is to establish one or more strategic partnerships with leading pharmaceutical or 
biotechnology organizations that will allow us to more fully exploit the potential of our technology platform, such as our collaborations described below 
under the heading “Collaboration Agreement with LG Chem" and "Collaboration and Option Agreement with Ono”. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Significant Judgments

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our financial statements 
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of our financial statements, and the reported revenue and expenses during the reported periods. We evaluate these estimates and judgments, 
including those described below, on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events, contractual milestones and 
various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying 
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or 
conditions. 

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we believe that the estimates, assumptions and judgments involved in the accounting policies described in Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 of our 2022 Annual Report have the greatest potential impact on our 
financial statements, so we consider those estimates, assumptions and judgments to be our critical accounting policies and estimates. There were no 
material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates during the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Adopted Standards

A discussion of recent accounting pronouncements is included in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q.

Significant Contracts and Agreements Related to Research and Development Activities

Einstein License Agreement

On January 14, 2015, we entered into a license agreement, as amended and restated on July 31, 2017, and as amended on October 30, 2018, or the 
Einstein License, with Albert Einstein College of Medicine, or Einstein, for certain patent rights, or the Patents, relating to our core technology platform for 
the engineering of biologics to control T cell activity, precision, immune-modulatory drug product candidates, and two supporting technologies that enable 
the discovery of costimulatory signaling molecules (ligands) and T cell targeting peptides. 

We hold an exclusive worldwide license, with the right to sublicense, import, make, have made, use, provide, offer to sell, and sell all products, 
processes and services that use the Patents, including certain technology received from Einstein related thereto, which we refer to as the Licensed Products. 
Under the Einstein License, we are required to:

• Pay royalties and amounts based on certain percentage of proceeds, as defined in the Einstein License, from sales of Licensed Products and 
sublicense agreements.

• Pay escalating annual maintenance fees, which are non-refundable, but are creditable against the amount due to Einstein for royalties.

• Make significant payments based upon the achievement of certain milestones, as defined in the Einstein License. As of the six months ended 
June 30, 2023, two of these milestones had been achieved, as we had filed an IND in 2019, and initiated the investigator sponsored Phase 1b 
neoadjuvant clinical trial for CUE-101 in 2021.  

• Incur minimum product development costs per year and meet certain diligence obligations until the first commercial sale of the first Licensed 
Product.

As of June 30, 2023, we were in compliance with our obligations under the Einstein License.

The Einstein License expires upon the expiration of the last obligation to make royalty payments to Einstein which may be due with respect to 
certain Licensed Products, unless terminated earlier under the provisions thereof. The Einstein License includes certain termination provisions that will be 
triggered if we fail to meet our obligations thereunder.
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We account for the costs incurred in connection with the Einstein License in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, 730, 
Research and Development. For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, costs incurred with respect to the Einstein License were approximately 
$29,000 and $0, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, costs incurred with respect to the Einstein License were approximately 
$76,000 and $52,000, respectively. Such costs are included in research and development costs in our consolidated statements of operations and other 
comprehensive loss.  

Pursuant to the Einstein License, we issued to Einstein 671,572 shares of our common stock in connection with the consummation of the initial 
public offering of our common stock on December 27, 2017. 

Collaboration Agreement with LG Chem

Effective November 6, 2018, we entered into a Collaboration, License and Option Agreement, or the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, with LG 
Chem Ltd., or LG Chem, related to the development of Immuno-STATs focused in the field of oncology.

Pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, we granted LG Chem an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize our lead 
product, CUE-101, as well as Immuno-STATs that target T cells against two additional cancer antigens, or the Drug Product Candidates, in Australia, Japan, 
Republic of Korea, Singapore, Malaysia, Vietnam, Thailand, Philippines, Indonesia, China (including Macau and Hong Kong) and Taiwan, which we refer 
to collectively as the LG Chem Territory. We retain rights to develop and commercialize all assets included in the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement in the 
United States and in global markets outside of the LG Chem Territory. Under the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, we will engineer the selected 
Immuno-STATs for up to three alleles, which are expected to include the predominant alleles in the LG Chem Territory, thereby enhancing our market reach 
by providing for greater patient coverage of populations in global markets, while LG Chem will establish a chemistry, manufacturing and controls, or 
CMC, process for the development and commercialization of selected Drug Product Candidates. In addition, LG Chem has the option to select one 
additional Immuno-STAT for an oncology target, or an Additional Immuno-STAT, for an exclusive worldwide development and commercialization license. 
On December 18, 2019, we and LG Chem entered into a global license and collaboration agreement, which was amended on November 5, 2020. We refer 
to such agreement, as amended, as the Global License and Collaboration Agreement. The Global License and Collaboration Agreement supersedes the 
provisions of the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement related to LG Chem’s option for an Additional Immuno-STAT but generally does not become 
effective unless and until LG Chem exercises its option, other than certain select provisions including the length of the option period and representations, 
warranties and covenants of the parties. On April 30, 2021, LG Chem’s option pursuant to the Global License and Collaboration Agreement expired.  

Under the terms of the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, LG Chem paid us a $5.0 million non-refundable, non-creditable upfront payment and 
purchased approximately $5.0 million of shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to a 20% premium to the volume weighted-average closing 
price per share over the 30 trading day period immediately prior to the effective date of the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. We are also eligible to 
receive additional aggregate payments of up to approximately $400.0 million if certain research, development, regulatory and commercial milestones are 
successfully achieved. On May 16, 2019, we earned a $2.5 million milestone payment for the FDA’s acceptance of the IND for our lead drug product 
candidate, CUE-101, pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. On December 7, 2020, we earned a $1.25 million milestone payment on the 
selection of a preclinical candidate pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. On November 23, 2021, we earned a $3.0 million milestone 
payment for the selection of a Drug Product Candidate. In addition, the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement also provides that LG Chem will pay us tiered 
single-digit royalties on net sales of commercialized Drug Product Candidates, or Collaboration Products, in the LG Chem Territory on a product-by-
product and country-by-country basis, until the later of expiration of patent rights in a country, the expiration of regulatory exclusivity in such country, or 
ten years after the first commercial sale of a Collaboration Product in such country, subject to certain royalty step-down provisions set forth in the LG 
Chem Collaboration Agreement. 

Pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, the parties will share research costs related to Collaboration Products, and LG Chem will 
provide CMC process development for selected Drug Product Candidates and potentially additional downstream manufacturing capabilities, including 
clinical and commercial supply for Collaboration Products. In return for performing CMC process development, LG Chem is eligible to receive low-single 
digit percentage royalty payments on the sales of Collaboration Products sold in all countries outside the LG Chem Territory. For the three months ended 
June 30, 2023 and 2022, we recognized revenue of approximately $29,000 and approximately $26,000, respectively, related to the LG Chem Collaboration 
Agreement. For the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, we recognized revenue of approximately $66,000 and approximately $1,026,000, 
respectively, related to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. As of June 30, 2023, we had recorded approximately $19.6 million in collaboration revenue 
related to this agreement since the agreement was entered into. The majority of the research phase of the collaboration agreement was substantially 
complete on March 31, 2022. 
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The LG Chem Collaboration Agreement includes various representations, warranties, covenants, indemnities and other customary provisions. LG 
Chem may terminate the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement for convenience or change of control of us on a program-by-program, product-by-product or 
country-by-country basis, or in its entirety, at any time following the notice period set forth in the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. Either party may 
terminate the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, in its entirety or on a program-by-program, product-by-product or country-by-country basis, in the event 
of an uncured material breach. The LG Chem Collaboration Agreement is also terminable by either party (i) upon the bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation 
of the other party or (ii) for certain activities involving the challenge of certain patents controlled by the other party. Unless earlier terminated, the LG 
Chem Collaboration Agreement will expire on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis upon the expiration of the applicable royalty term.

To date, LG Chem has selected one additional cancer antigen, WT-1, which is the focus of the CUE-102 research program.  We are currently 
developing two Collaboration Products with LG Chem pursuant to this agreement.  

Collaboration and Option Agreement with Ono 

On February 22, 2023, we entered into a strategic collaboration agreement, or the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement, with Ono 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or Ono, to further develop CUE-401 and provide dedicated resources and capabilities to help advance CUE-401 toward the 
clinic. Under the terms of the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement, Ono paid us an upfront payment and agreed to fully fund all research activities 
related to CUE-401 through a specified option period. During this option period, we will be responsible for the research and development of CUE-401. 
Upon Ono’s exercise of its option to license CUE-401, we will receive an option exercise payment and be eligible for development and commercial 
milestone payments up to an aggregate of approximately $220 million, as well as tiered royalties on sales. Upon any such exercise, Ono will receive 
worldwide rights to develop and commercialize CUE-401, with us retaining a 50% co-development and co-commercialization right in the United States. 

Under the terms of the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement, we will perform research activities related to CUE-401 through a specified option 
period of 24 months, or the Research Term. During this Research Term, we will be responsible for the execution of scientific investigation, nonclinical, 
preclinical, and clinical drug research and development activities designed to progress CUE-401 toward a potential IND and regulatory approval, 
collectively referred to as R&D. Ono is responsible for the funding of R&D activities performed by us. Per the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement, 
as consideration for the R&D activities performed by us, Ono (i) made a one-time, non-refundable, non-creditable upfront payment of $3.0 million to us 
and (ii) will reimburse us for all costs incurred in conducting research, including (a) pass through costs from third party contractors and (b) full time 
employee salaries capped at $2.1 million in the first 18 months of the Research Term. The term of the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement extends 
until the expiration of the Research Term which cannot exceed a 24-month period. We have forecasted that we will be able to complete the R&D activities 
in 18 months based on the initial research and development plans we have established. We received the $3.0 million upfront payment in March 2023.

Aside from the $3.0 million upfront payment and funding related to pass through costs, we do not believe that any variable consideration should be 
included in the transaction price as of June 30, 2023.  Such assessment considered the application of the constraint to ensure that estimates of variable 
consideration would be included in the transaction price only to the extent we have had a high degree of confidence that revenue would not be reversed in a 
subsequent reporting period. We will re-evaluate the transaction price, including the estimated variable consideration included in the transaction price and 
all constrained amounts, in each reporting period and as other changes in circumstances occur. For the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, we 
recognized revenue of approximately $1,354,000 and $0, respectively, related to the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement. For the six months ended 
June 30, 2023 and 2022, we recognized revenue of approximately $1,504,000 and $0, respectively, related to the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement. 
We recorded short or long-term research and development liabilities on our balance sheet dated June 30, 2023, of approximately $2,332,000 and $141,000, 
respectively. We did not recognize short or long term research and development liabilities on our balance sheet as of December 31, 2022, as the agreement 
was executed in February 2023.

Results of Operations
 

Collaboration Revenue

We have not generated commercial revenue from product sales. To date, we have generated collaboration revenue from our former collaboration 
agreement with Merck, the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement and the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement.  Collaboration revenue may vary from 
period to period depending on the progress of our work in connection with either or both of our collaboration agreements.
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Operating Expenses

We generally recognize operating expenses as they are incurred in two general categories, general and administrative expenses and research and 
development expenses. Our operating expenses also include non-cash components related to depreciation and amortization of property and equipment and 
stock-based compensation, which are allocated, as appropriate, to general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses.

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related expenses for executive, legal, finance, human resources, information technology 
and administrative personnel, as well as professional fees, insurance costs, and other general corporate expenses. We expect general and administrative 
expenses to increase in future periods as we incur additional expenses related to our operation as a public company which requires our compliance with 
certain regulatory and legal procedures. We expect activities supporting our operations including legal, accounting, insurance, employee compensation and 
other expenses to increase.

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation expenses, fees paid to consultants, outside service providers and 
organizations (including research institutes at universities), facility expenses, and development and clinical trial expenses with respect to our drug product 
candidates. We charge research and development expenses to operations as they are incurred. We expect research and development expenses to increase in 
the future as we continue to advance the clinical development of CUE-101 and CUE-102, including our ongoing and planned clinical trials, and develop 
potential future drug product candidates based on our technology and research.  We also believe that rising inflation, supply chain disruptions and labor 
shortages may also contribute to increased research and development costs.

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

Our consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, as discussed 
herein, are presented below.
 

    Three Months Ended     Six Months Ended  
    June 30,     June 30,  
    2023     2022     2023     2022  
    (in thousands)     (in thousands)  

Collaboration revenue   $ 1,382     $ 26     $ 1,570     $ 1,026  
Operating expenses:                        

General and administrative     4,249       3,782       8,425       8,938  
Research and development     10,650       9,592       20,041       19,675  
Gain on right-of-use asset termination     —       (258 )     —       (258 )

Total operating expenses     14,899       13,116       28,466       28,355  
Loss from operations     (13,517 )     (13,090 )     (26,896 )     (27,329 )
Other (expense) income:                        

Interest income     564       88       1,056       96  
Interest expense, net     (232 )     (206 )     (454 )     (230 )

Total other (expense) income     332       (118 )     602       (134 )
Net loss   $ (13,185 )   $ (13,208 )   $ (26,294 )   $ (27,463 )
Unrealized gain from available-for-sale
   securities     34       —       91       —  
Comprehensive loss   $ (13,151 )   $ (13,208 )   $ (26,203 )   $ (27,463 )

Net loss per common share – basic and diluted   $ (0.29 )   $ (0.37 )   $ (0.59 )   $ (0.81 )

Weighted average common shares outstanding –
   basic and diluted     44,798,760       35,357,343       44,725,875       34,005,410  

 

Collaboration Revenue

Collaboration revenue was approximately $1,382,000 and $26,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We recognized 
collaboration revenue of $1,570,000 and $1,026,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The increase of approximately 
$1,356,000 and $544,000 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, 
was due to the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement executed in February 2023. All collaboration revenue recognized in the three and six months 
ended June 30, 2023 was related to the performance of services under our collaboration agreements with Ono and LG Chem, including a $3.0 million 
upfront payment received pursuant to the Ono Collaboration and Option Agreement and pass through costs related to research activities. All collaboration 
revenue recognized in the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was related to the performance of services under our collaboration agreement with LG 
Chem.
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General and Administrative 

General and administrative expenses totaled approximately $4,249,000 and $3,782,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. This increase of approximately $467,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022 was 
due primarily to higher professional and consulting fees, offset by a decrease in rent expense. 

General and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2023 consisted of expenses related to professional and consulting fees of 
$1,412,000, employee and board compensation of $1,408,000, stock-based compensation of $962,000, rent of $184,000, insurance expense of $78,000 and 
other expenses of $205,000. General and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2022 consisted of expenses related to professional 
and consulting fees of $1,142,000, employee and board compensation of $1,138,000, stock-based compensation of $1,012,000, rent of  $246,000, insurance 
expense of $88,000 and other expenses of $156,000.

General and administrative expenses totaled approximately $8,425,000 and $8,938,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. This decrease of approximately $513,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022 was 
due primarily to lower stock-based compensation related to executive management.

General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2023 consisted of expenses related to employee and board compensation of 
$2,891,000, professional and consulting fees of $2,762,000, stock-based compensation of $1,850,000, rent of $370,000, insurance expense of $155,000, and 
other expenses of $397,000. General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted of expenses related to professional and 
consulting fees of $2,651,000, stock-based compensation of $2,648,000, employee and board compensation of $2,541,000, rent of $534,000, insurance 
expense of $173,000, and other expenses of $391,000.

Research and Development 

Research and development expenses totaled approximately $10,650,000 and $9,592,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. This increase of approximately $1,058,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022 
was due primarily to higher laboratory and drug substance manufacturing costs.
 

Research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2023 included expenses related to research and laboratory expenses of 
$3,708,000, employee compensation of $2,450,000, clinical expenses of $1,895,000, stock-based compensation expense of $1,075,000, rent of $673,000, 
insurance expense of $206,000, depreciation and amortization of $130,000, and other expenses of  $513,000. Research and development expenses for the 
three months ended June 30, 2022 included expenses related to employee compensation of $2,578,000, clinical expenses of $1,940,000, research and 
laboratory expenses of $1,933,000, stock-based compensation expense of $1,297,000, rent of $864,000, insurance expense of $246,000, depreciation and 
amortization of $211,000, other professional fees of $98,000, and other expenses of $425,000. 

 
Research and development expenses totaled approximately $20,041,000 and $19,675,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 

respectively. This increase of approximately $366,000 was due primarily to clinical expenses related to the CUE-101 clinical trial and expenses related to 
the initiation of the Phase 1 monotherapy clinical trial of CUE-102. Rising inflation, supply chain disruptions, and labor shortages may also contribute to 
future increases in research and development expense.

 
Research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2023 included expenses related to research and laboratory expenses of 

$6,176,000, employee compensation of  $5,133,000, clinical expenses of $3,600,000, stock-based compensation of $2,185,000, rent of $1,343,000, 
insurance expense of $411,000, other professional fees of $326,000, depreciation and amortization of $300,000, and other expenses of $567,000. Research 
and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2022 included expenses related to employee compensation of $5,552,000, research and 
laboratory expenses of $4,334,000, clinical expenses of $3,075,000, stock-based compensation of $2,672,000, rent of $1,914,000, insurance expense of 
$504,000, depreciation and amortization of $491,000, other professional fees of $384,000, licensing fees of $57,000, and other expenses of $692,000.

Gain on Right-of-use Asset Termination
Gain on right-of-use asset termination was $0 and $258,000  for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This decrease 

of $258,000 was due to the gain on right-of-use asset related to the termination of our operating lease agreement for our laboratory and office space in 
Cambridge, Massachusetts at 21 Erie Street, effective on April 30, 2022.
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Interest Income

Interest income was approximately $564,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 as compared to approximately $88,000 for the three months 
ended June 30, 2022. Interest income for the three months ended June 30, 2023 included approximately $479,000 in income resulting from amortization of 
discounts received on certain of our marketable securities and approximately $85,000 of interest income from our operating sweep account, compared to 
approximately $88,000 of interest income for the three months ended June 30, 2022.

Interest income was approximately $1,056,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 as compared to approximately $96,000 for the six months 
ended June 30, 2022. Interest income for the six months ended June 30, 2023 included approximately $914,000 in income resulting from amortization of 
discounts received on certain of our marketable securities and approximately $142,000 of interest income from our operating sweep account, compared to 
approximately $96,000 of interest income for the six months ended June 30, 2022.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was approximately $232,000 and $206,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This increase of 
$26,000 was primarily due to cash paid for interest expense related to the proceeds from borrowings under our Loan and Security Agreement, as amended, 
or the Loan Agreement, with Silicon Valley Bridge Bank, N.A., or SVBB, of $295,000, and amortization of deferred issuance costs of $9,000, offset by 
approximately $74,000 from amortization/accretion on investments.

Interest expense was approximately $454,000 and $230,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This increase of 
$224,000 was primarily due to cash paid for interest expense related to the proceeds from borrowings under the Loan Agreement with SVBB of $659,000, 
and amortization of deferred issuance costs of $18,000, offset by cash received on the sale of property and equipment of $2,000 and approximately 
$222,000 from amortization/accretion on investments.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our working capital requirements primarily through private and public offerings of equity securities, cash received from Merck, 
LG Chem, and Ono under the respective collaboration agreements and borrowings under the Loan Agreement. At June 30, 2023, we had cash, cash 
equivalents, and marketable securities totaling $57,889,000 available to fund our ongoing business activities. Additional information concerning our 
financial condition and results of operations is provided in the financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

The amounts that we actually spend for any specific purpose may vary significantly and will depend on a number of factors, including, but not 
limited to, our research and development activities and programs, clinical testing, regulatory approval, market conditions, and changes in or revisions to our 
business strategy and technology development plans. 

On May 9, 2023, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3, which was declared effective on May 26, 2023 (File No. 333-271786), to register 
for sale from time to time up to $300.0 million of our common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, subscription rights and/or units in one or 
more offerings.

In October 2021, we entered into an open market sale agreement, or the October 2021 ATM Agreement, with Jefferies LLC, or Jefferies, to sell 
shares of our common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $80.0 million, from time to time, through an "at-the-market" equity offering program 
under which Jefferies acts as sales agent.  The October 2021 ATM Agreement will terminate upon the earliest of (a) the sale of $80.0 million of shares of 
our common stock pursuant to the October 2021 ATM Agreement or (b) the termination of the October 2021 ATM Agreement by us or Jefferies. During the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2023, we sold 536,264 shares of common stock under the October 2021 ATM Agreement for proceeds of 
approximately $2,015,000 net of commission paid, but excluding transaction expenses. As of June 30, 2023, we had sold an aggregate of 4,129,671 shares 
of common stock under the October 2021 ATM Agreement for proceeds of approximately $25.6 million, net of commissions paid, but excluding 
transaction expenses, since its inception.

On February 15, 2022, we entered into the Loan Agreement, pursuant to which we have borrowed $10.0 million. The Loan Agreement was amended 
in April 2023. The term loans under the Loan Agreement, or the Term Loans, bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to the greater of (A) the prime 
rate (as published in the money rates section of The Wall Street Journal) plus 2.25% and (B) 5.50%. On the first calendar day of each month, we will be 
required to make monthly interest payments and commencing on June 30, 2023, we will be required to repay the Term Loans in (i) 30 consecutive 
installments of principal plus monthly payments of accrued interest if the additional term loans are not advanced and (ii) 24 months if the additional term 
loans are advanced. All outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest under the Term Loans and all other outstanding obligations with respect to 
the Term Loans are due and payable in full on December 1, 2025.
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The Loan Agreement permits voluntary prepayment of all, but not less than all, of the Term Loans, subject to a prepayment premium except if the 
facility is refinanced with another SVBB facility. Such prepayment premium would be 2.00% of the principal amount of the Term Loan if prepaid on or 
after the first anniversary of the date on which we entered the Loan Agreement but prior to the second anniversary of the date on which we entered the 
Loan Agreement, and 1.00% of the principal amount of the Term Loan if prepaid on or after the second anniversary of the date on which we entered the 
Loan Agreement. Upon prepayment or repayment in full of the Term Loans, we will be required to pay a one-time final payment fee equal to 5.00% of the 
original principal amount of any funded Term Loans being repaid.  The Loan Agreement also requires us to maintain in our accounts at the Lender 
unrestricted and unencumbered cash equal to the lesser of all of our cash or $20,000,000. 

On March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank, or SVB, was closed and the Federal Deposit Insurance Company, or FDIC, was appointed receiver for the 
bank. The FDIC created a successor bridge bank, SVBB, and all deposits of SVB were transferred to SVBB under a systemic risk exception approved by 
the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve and the FDIC.  SVBB continues to hold our Term Loans under the same existing terms and 
covenants which were in place with SVB. The vast majority of our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities reside in custodial accounts at US Bank 
for which SVB Asset Management is the advisor. 

On November 14, 2022, we entered into securities purchase agreements with accredited investors pursuant to which, on November 16, 2022, we 
issued and sold to such investors in a private placement an aggregate of 7,656,966 shares of common stock and, in lieu of shares of common stock to 
certain investors, pre-funded warrants, or Pre-Funded Warrants, to purchase an aggregate of 1,531,440 shares of common stock, and, in each case, 
accompanying warrants, or Warrants, to purchase an aggregate of up to 9,188,406 additional shares of common stock (or Pre-Funded Warrants in lieu 
thereof) at a price of $3.265 per share and accompanying Warrant (or $3.2649 per Pre-Funded Warrant and accompanying Warrant), or the PIPE Financing.  
The exercise price of the Warrants is $3.93 per share, or if exercised for a Pre-Funded Warrant in lieu thereof, $3.9299 per Pre-Funded Warrant. The 
Warrants are exercisable at any time after they are issued and ending on the fifth anniversary of the closing. The Pre-Funded Warrants are exercisable at any 
time after they are issued and will not expire. We received aggregate gross proceeds from the PIPE Financing of approximately $30 million, before 
deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses of $2.6 million. Piper Sandler & Co. acted as lead placement agent and Public Ventures LLC acted as 
co-placement agent for the PIPE Financing.

 
If we issue additional equity securities to raise funds, the ownership percentage of our existing stockholders would be reduced. New investors may 

demand rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of our common stock. If we issue debt securities, we may be required to grant 
security interests in our assets, could have substantial debt service obligations, and lenders may have a senior position (compared to stockholders) in any 
potential future bankruptcy or liquidation. Additionally, corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements may require us to incur non-recurring and other 
charges, give up certain rights relating to our intellectual property and research and development activities, increase our near and long-term expenditures, 
issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders, issue debt which may require liens on our assets and which will increase our monthly expense 
obligations, or disrupt our management and business.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our changes in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:
 
    Six Months Ended  
    June 30,  
    2023    2022  
(in thousands)            
Net cash provided by (used in):            

Operating activities   $ (21,204 )   $ (24,421 )
Investing activities     20,002       (89 )
Financing activities     2,489       26,265  

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   $ 1,287     $ 1,755  
 

Operating Activities 

During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, we used cash of $21,204,000 and $24,421,000, respectively, to fund our operating activities. 
Cash used in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2023 consisted primarily of our net loss of $26,294,000 and decreases of $1,070,000 
in prepaid expenses and other current assets, $1,077,000 in accounts receivable, $1,354,000 in operating lease liability, $375,000 in amortization of 
discount on purchased securities, $222,000 in amortization of discount on purchased securities and $2,000 in gain on sale of property and equipment. Cash 
used in operating activities was partially offset by increases of $2,683,000 in research and development contract liability, $4,035,000 in stock-based 
compensation, $1,416,000 in 
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amortization of operating lease right-of-use asset, $521,000 in accrued expenses $313,000 in depreciation and amortization, $139,000 in deposits, $65,000 
in accretion on final payment of term loan, and $18,000 in amortization of debt issuance costs.

Cash used in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted primarily of our net loss of $27,463,000 and decreases of 
$1,062,000 in accrued expenses, $645,000 in research and development contract liability, $258,000 in gain on right-of-use asset termination, $1,023,000 in 
accounts payable, $1,075,000 in deposits, $100,000 in operating lease liability, and $1,268,000 in prepaid expenses and other current assets. Cash used in 
operating activities was partially offset by increases of $5,320,000 in stock-based compensation, $169,000 in operating lease right-of-use asset, $12,000 in 
amortization of debt issuance costs, $43,000 in accretion on final payment of term loan, $518,000 in depreciation and amortization, $2,407,000 in accounts 
receivable, and $4,000 in loss on sale of property and equipment.

Investing Activities 

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, our investing activities provided $20,002,000 in cash, compared to cash used in investing activities of 
$89,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2022. This increase of $20,091,000 in cash from investing activities was primarily due to the redemption of 
short-term investments in marketable securities and cash received from the sale of fixed assets. Cash provided in investing activities during the six months 
ended June 30, 2023 consisted of the net redemption of short-term investments in marketable securities of $20,000,000 and the cash received from the sale 
of property and equipment of $2,000. Cash used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted of the purchase of property and 
equipment of $92,000, offset by cash received from the sale of property and equipment of $3,000.

Financing Activities 

During the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, we generated cash from financing activities of $2,488,000 and $26,265,000, respectively, a 
decrease of $23,777,000. Cash from financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2023 consisted of cash proceeds from the sale of common 
stock pursuant to the October 2021 ATM Agreement of $2,015,000 net of sales agent commissions and fees, and cash proceeds from the exercise of stock 
options of $473,000. Cash from financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted of cash proceeds from the sale of common stock 
pursuant to the October 2021 ATM Agreement of $16,598,000 net of sales agent commissions and fees, and proceeds from borrowings under the Loan 
Agreement of $10,000,000, partially offset by cash used for restricted stock buy-back at vesting of $191,000 and payment of debt issuance costs of 
$142,000.

Funding Requirements

We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we continue the research and development of our 
Immuno-STAT platform, continue ongoing and initiate new clinical trials of and seek marketing approval for our drug product candidates. In addition, we 
expect to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company.  Our expenses will also increase if, and as, we:

• continue the clinical development of our CUE-100 series, including CUE-101 and CUE-102;

• leverage our programs to advance our other drug product candidates into preclinical and clinical development;

• seek regulatory approvals for any drug product candidates for which we successfully complete clinical trials;

• seek to discover and develop additional drug product candidates in the CUE-100 series, including Neo-STATs;

• establish a sales, marketing, medical affairs and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any drug product candidates for which we may 
obtain marketing approval and intend to commercialize on our own or jointly;

• hire additional clinical, quality control and scientific personnel;

• expand our manufacturing, quality, operational, financial and management systems;

• increase personnel, including personnel to support our clinical development, manufacturing and commercialization efforts and our 
operations as a public company;

• maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

• acquire or in-license other drug product candidates and technologies; and

• incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses in operating as a public company.  
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In the first quarter of 2022, we determined to prioritize and strategically focus on our CUE-101 and CUE-102 oncology programs in our CUE-100 
series. We are actively seeking third party support through partnerships and collaborations, or alternative funding structures, to further develop CUE-103 
and our Neo-STAT and RDI-STAT programs as well as our programs outside of oncology, including our CUE-300 and CUE-400 series.  In 2022, we also 
determined to take proactive steps to decrease our office and lab footprint and to restructure our research and development functions in support of 
prioritized corporate objectives and strategies. These steps have realized cost savings to date that have been allocated to our key programs.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities as of June 30, 2023 will enable us to fund our operating requirements 
for at least the next 12 months. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could exhaust our available capital 
resources sooner than we expect.

We will need to raise additional capital or incur additional indebtedness to continue to fund our operations in the future. Our ability to raise 
additional funds will depend on financial, economic and market conditions, many of which are outside of our control, and we may be unable to raise 
financing when needed, or on terms favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce or 
eliminate our product development or future commercialization efforts, or grant rights to develop and market drug product candidates that we would 
otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves, which could adversely affect our business prospects, and we may be unable to continue our operations. 
Because of numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the research, development and commercialization of our drug product candidates, we are 
unable to estimate the exact amount of our working capital requirements. Factors that may affect our planned future capital requirements and accelerate our 
need for additional working capital include the following:

• the progress, timing, scope and costs of our clinical trials, including the ability to timely enroll patients in our ongoing, planned and 
potential future clinical trials;

• the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory approvals by the FDA and other comparable regulatory authorities, including the potential that 
the FDA or other comparable regulatory authorities may require that we perform more studies than those that we currently expect;

• the number and characteristics of drug product candidates that we may in-license and develop;

• our ability to successfully commercialize our drug product candidates, if approved;

• the amount of sales and other revenues from drug product candidates that we may commercialize, if any, including the selling prices for 
such potential products and the availability of adequate third-party reimbursement;

• selling and marketing costs associated with our potential products, including the cost and timing of expanding our marketing and sales 
capabilities;

• the terms and timing of any potential future collaborations, licensing or other arrangements that we may establish;

• cash requirements of any future acquisitions and/or the development of other drug product candidates;

• the costs of operating as a public company;

• the cost and timing of completion of commercial-scale, outsourced manufacturing activities;

• the time and cost necessary to respond to technological and market developments;

• any disputes which may occur between us and Einstein, employees, collaborators or other prospective business partners; and

• the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights.

A change in the outcome of any of these or other variables with respect to the development of any of our drug product candidates could significantly 
change the costs and timing associated with the development of that drug product candidate. Further, our operating plans may change in the future, and we 
may need additional funds to meet operational needs and capital requirements associated with such operating plans.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of public or 
private equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic partnerships or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties and 
grants from organizations and foundations. If we raise additional funds by selling shares of our common stock or other equity-linked securities, the 
ownership interest of our current stockholders will be diluted. We may seek to access the public or private capital markets whenever conditions are 
favorable, even if we do not have an immediate need for additional capital at that time. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic 
alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future 
revenue streams or 
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drug product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be acceptable to us. If we raise additional funds through debt financing, we may have to 
grant a security interest on our assets to the future lenders, our debt service costs may be substantial, and the lenders may have a preferential position in 
connection with any future bankruptcy or liquidation.

If we are unable to raise additional capital when needed, we may be required to curtail the development of our technology or materially curtail or 
reduce our operations. We could be forced to sell or dispose of our rights or assets. Any inability to raise adequate funds on commercially reasonable terms 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation and financial condition, including the possibility that a lack of funds could cause 
our business to fail, dissolve and liquidate with little or no return to investors.

Principal Commitments 

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, there were no material changes to our contractual obligations and commitments as of 
December 31, 2022 described under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our 2022 Annual Report.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item 3.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We are responsible for maintaining disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures designed to ensure that the information required to 
be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods 
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our 
management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure.

Based on our management’s evaluation (with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer) of our disclosure 
controls and procedures as required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer have 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2023, the end of the period covered by this report.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our 
internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can 
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that 
there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all 
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues 
and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that 
breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two 
or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the 
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. 
Projections of any evaluation of control effectiveness to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2023 that have materially affected, or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We operate in a rapidly changing environment that involves a number of risks that could materially affect our business, financial condition or future 
results, some of which are beyond our control.  The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and/or growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this report and 
those we may make from time to time.  In evaluating us and our business, you should carefully consider the information included in this Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q and in other documents we file with the SEC and the risk factors previously disclosed in “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our 2022 Annual 
Report.   
 

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
 
  Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

Filed
Herewith Form Exhibit Filing Date Registration/File No.

10.1 Amendment No. 2 to Cue Biopharma, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan X        
10.2 Amendment No. 1 to Cue Biopharma, Inc. 2016 Non-Employee Equity 

Incentive Plan
X        

10.3 Consulting Agreement effective June 7, 2023 entered into between Cue 
Biopharma, Inc. and Peter A Kiener, D.Phil

X        

10.4 Waiver and First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated April 
10, 2023, by and between Cue Biopharma, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bridge 
Bank, N.A., as successor in interest to Silicon Valley Bank

  10-Q 10.2 5/9/2023 001-38327

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934

X       

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934

X     

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X      

101.INS Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL) Instance 
Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data 
File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL 
document.

X        

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X        
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document X        
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X        
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X        
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document X        

104 The cover page from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended June 30, 2023, has been formatted in Inline XBRL.

X        
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
    Cue Biopharma, Inc.
         
         
Dated:   August 8, 2023   By:   /s/ Daniel R. Passeri
         

        Daniel R. Passeri
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

         
Dated:   August 8, 2023   By:   /s/ Kerri-Ann Millar
         

        Kerri-Ann Millar
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1
Amendment No. 2 to the

Cue Biopharma, Inc. 2016 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan

This Amendment No. 2 (“Amendment”) of the 2016 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Existing Plan”; as 
amended hereby, the “Plan”), of Cue Biopharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), is made and adopted by the 
Company.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Existing Plan is hereby amended as follows:

1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings given thereto in the Existing 
Plan.

2. Amendment of Section 4.3.4 of Existing Plan. Section 4.3.4 of the Existing Plan is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced 
with the following:

“4.3.4. Limits on Awards to Non-Employee Directors
 

The maximum value of Awards granted during any calendar year to any Non-Employee Director for service as a 
director, taken together with any cash fees paid to such Non-Employee Director for service as a director during the 
calendar year and the value of awards granted to the Non-Employee Director for service as a director under any other 
equity compensation plan of the Company or an Affiliate during the calendar year, shall not exceed $250,000 
(calculating the value of any Awards or other equity compensation plan awards for service as a director based on the 
initial grant date fair value for financial reporting purposes (and not taking into account any incremental fair value as a 
result of any repricing, modification or other amendment of an award)); provided, however, that Awards granted to a 
Non-Employee Director upon his or her initial election to the Board or the board of directors of an Affiliate shall not be 
counted towards the limit under this Section 4.3.4 related to the maximum value of Awards granted for service as a 
director.” 
 

3. Reference to and Effect on the Plan. The Plan, as amended hereby, and all other documents, instruments and agreements 
executed and/or delivered in connection therewith, shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

4. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.

Effective this 7th day of June 2023.

 





Exhibit 10.2
Amendment No. 1 to the

Cue Biopharma, Inc. 2016 Non-Employee Equity Incentive Plan

This Amendment No. 1 (“Amendment”) of the 2016 Non-Employee Equity Incentive Plan (the “Existing Plan”; as amended 
hereby, the “Plan”), of Cue Biopharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), is made and adopted by the Company.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Existing Plan is hereby amended as follows:

1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings given thereto in the Existing 
Plan.

2. Amendment of Section 4.2.6 of Existing Plan. Section 4.2.6 of the Existing Plan is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced 
with the following:

“4.2.6. Limits on Awards to Non-Employee Directors
 

The maximum value of Awards granted during any calendar year to any Non-Employee Director for service as a 
director, taken together with any cash fees paid to such Non-Employee Director for service as a director during the 
calendar year and the value of awards granted to the Non-Employee Director for service as a director under any other 
equity compensation plan of the Company or an Affiliate during the calendar year, shall not exceed $250,000 
(calculating the value of any Awards or other equity compensation plan awards for service as a director based on the 
initial grant date fair value for financial reporting purposes (and not taking into account any incremental fair value as a 
result of any repricing, modification or other amendment of an award)); provided, however, that Awards granted to a 
Non-Employee Director upon his or her initial election to the Board or the board of directors of an Affiliate shall not be 
counted towards the limit under this Section 4.2.6 related to the maximum value of Awards granted for service as a 
director.” 
 

3. Reference to and Effect on the Plan. The Plan, as amended hereby, and all other documents, instruments and agreements 
executed and/or delivered in connection therewith, shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed.

4. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.

Effective this 7th day of June 2023.

 





 
 

Exhibit 10.3
CONSULTING AGREEMENT

 

THIS CONSULTING AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), effective June 7, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), is entered into 
between Cue Biopharma, Inc., a Delaware corporation having an address of 40 Guest Street, Boston, Massachusetts 
02135 (the “Company”), and Peter A Kiener, D.Phil, having an address of [**].

 
INTRODUCTION

 

The Company desires to contract with Consultant to provide certain services, and Consultant is willing to provide 
such services, all in accordance with and pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. In consideration 
of the mutual covenants and promises contained in this Agreement and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which the parties acknowledge, the parties agree as follows:

 
1.Services. Consultant will provide the services to the Company on the matters described in Exhibit A and will 

provide such other services as the parties may reasonably agree from time to time (the “Services”).
 

2.Term. This Agreement will commence on the date above and will continue until this Agreement is terminated by 
either party providing written notice of termination to the other party (the “Term”).

 
3. Compensation and Reimbursement.

 

3.1 Compensation. Consultant will receive the compensation described in
Exhibit A.

 

3.2 Reimbursement of Expenses. The Company will reimburse Consultant for all reasonable and 
necessary expenses incurred or paid by Consultant in connection with, or related to, Consultant providing the Services only if 
Consultant (a) obtains prior written approval for the expense by the Company and (b) presents expense statements or other 
supporting documentation for the expense as reasonably requested by the Company.

 
3.3 Benefits. Consultant will not be entitled to any benefits, coverages or privileges, including, without 

limitation, social security, unemployment, medical or pension payments, made available to employees of the Company.
 

4.Work for Others. The Company recognizes and agrees that Consultant will perform services for other persons, 
organizations, companies or corporations provided that such services do not require Consultant to breach the provisions of 
Section 5 of this Agreement. Consultant certifies that Consultant has no outstanding agreement or obligation that is in conflict 
with any of the provisions of this Agreement or that would preclude Consultant from complying with the provisions of this 
Agreement and/or that Consultant has received any necessary consent to enter into this Agreement. Consultant will not enter 
into any such conflicting agreement during the term of this Agreement except with the prior written consent of the Company. 
Before Consultant begins to work as an employee or consultant or to serve on the Board of Directors or Board of Consultants 
or to perform similar functions for an entity whose activities are or may be competitive with any business of the Company or 
any of its affiliates or subsidiaries, Consultant will notify the Company in writing.
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5. Nondisclosure and Proprietary Information.
 

5.1 Nondisclosure. Consultant agrees and understands that in Consultant’s position with the Company, 
Consultant has been and will be exposed to and receive information relating to the confidential affairs of the Company, 
including but not limited to technical data, trade secrets, know-how, research, product or service ideas or plans, 
developments, inventions, processes, techniques, engineering designs and drawings, business and marketing plans, 
strategies, customer information, other information concerning the Company’s products, development, business policies and 
practices, and other forms of information considered by the Company to be confidential and/or in the nature of trade secrets 
(“confidential information” or “Confidential Information”). Consultant agrees that during the Term and thereafter, Consultant 
will keep such information confidential and will not use such information except in the furtherance of providing services under 
this Agreement and will not disclose such information, either directly or indirectly, to any third person or entity without the prior 
written consent of the Company; provided, however, that (i) Consultant will have no such obligation to the extent such 
information is or becomes publicly known or generally known in the Company’s industry other than as a result of Consultant’s 
breach of his obligations hereunder and (ii) Consultant may, after giving prior notice to the Company to the extent practicable 
under the circumstances, disclose such information to the extent required by applicable laws or governmental regulations or 
judicial or regulatory process. Consultant’s obligations of confidentiality and non-use hereunder will continue for a period of 
five years after the Term, except with respect to information which constitutes a trade secret under applicable law, which will 
survive for such additional period of time during which such Information remains a trade secret under applicable law. After the 
Term, Consultant will promptly return to the Company all property, notes, writings, files, reports, correspondence, technical 
data or any other tangible product or document which has been produced by, received by or otherwise submitted to 
Consultant as a result of Consultant’s position with the Company during or before the Term.

 
5.2 Proprietary Information. Without limiting the generality of what constitutes confidential information, 

Consultant agrees that any developments, designs, concepts, inventions, techniques and improvements which Consultant 
conceives or makes either solely or jointly with others, in performing services under this Agreement will be a “work made for 
hire” and the sole property of the Company (“Proprietary Information”). Consultant hereby assigns all rights, title and interests 
to Proprietary Information to the Company and will upon the Company’s request execute any and all documents necessary to 
convey all rights, title and interests in the Proprietary Information to the Company.

 
5.3 Injunctive Relief. Consultant agrees that any breach of the terms of this Section 5 would result in 

irreparable injury and damage to the Company for which the Company would have no adequate remedy at law; Consultant 
therefore also agrees that in the event of said breach or any threat of breach, the Company will be entitled to enforce the 
specific performance of this Agreement by Consultant and to seek an immediate injunction and restraining order to prevent 
such breach and/or threatened breach and/or continued breach by Consultant and/or any and all entities acting for and/or 
with Consultant, without having to prove damages, in addition to any other remedies to which the Company may be entitled 
at law or in equity. The terms of this paragraph will not prevent the Company from pursuing any other available remedies for 
any breach or threatened breach hereof, including but not limited to the recovery of damages from Consultant. Consultant 
acknowledges that the Company would not have entered into this Agreement had Consultant not agreed to the provisions of 
this Section 5.
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5.4 Survival. The provisions of this Section 5 will survive the termination of this Agreement, and the 
existence of any claim or cause of action by Consultant against the Company, whether predicated on this Agreement or 
otherwise, will not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company of the covenants and agreements of this 
Section 5.

 
6. Property and Proprietary Rights.

 

6.1 All work and work product produced by Consultant in connection with this Agreement and all inventions, 
creations, discoveries, improvements, developments, ideas, expressions, know-how, trade secrets, technical and non-
technical data, specifications, formulae, methods, processes, techniques, practices, procedures, manufacturing techniques, 
designs, devices, apparatuses, products, works of authorship, trade names, logos, and other items of intellectual property, 
whether or not patentable or protectable by copyright, which are conceived or made or actually or constructively reduced to 
practice in whole or in part by Consultant (i) in the course of, or in response to matters related to, the Services, or (ii) based in 
whole or in part on or derived from any Confidential Information supplied by the Company or its Affiliates, or (iii) using any of 
the Company’s or its Affiliates’ facilities, equipment or personnel, or
(iv) which are conceived, made or reduced to practice during the Term of this Agreement and relate to the Company’s or its 
Affiliates’ then current or anticipated products or services, in each case whether in preliminary or final form and on whatever 
media rendered, together with any reports, drawings, plans, diagrams or other documents comprising or containing any of 
the foregoing in whatever media (all of the foregoing, collectively, “Work Product”) will be deemed work made for hire and 
made in the course of Services rendered under this Agreement and will be the exclusive property of the Company. To the 
extent that title of such Work Product does not vest in the Company by operation of law, Consultant hereby irrevocably 
transfers and assigns to the Company in perpetuity all worldwide right, title and interest in and to the Work Product and to 
any and all intellectual property rights relating thereto, including, without limitation, all patent rights, copyrights, trade secrets 
and other intellectual property rights. Consultant will promptly disclose all Work Product to the Company and execute and 
deliver to the Company all documents requested by the Company to evidence its ownership of the Work Product or as 
reasonably required by the Company to obtain and maintain patent, copyright, or any other intellectual property rights in the 
Work Product and to maintain and enforce the Company’s proprietary rights in the Work Product.

 
6.2 Consultant will cooperate fully in (i) vesting in the Company the ownership of all proprietary rights to the 

Work Product, and (ii) at the cost and expense of the Company, assisting the Company in obtaining patent, copyright or any 
other intellectual property rights in the Work Product and in maintaining and protecting the Company’s proprietary rights, 
including, without limitation, executing any documents which the Company reasonably deems necessary for such purpose.

 
6.3 Title to all materials and documentation furnished by the Company to Consultant will remain in the 

Company. Consultant will deliver to the Company any and all such Work Product and property, including all copies thereof on 
whatever media rendered, upon (i) the Company’s request or (ii) the termination of this Agreement for any reason.

 
6.4 Consultant acknowledges that all Work Product constitutes Confidential Information of the Company 

and is subject to the restrictions on disclosure, publication and use set forth in this Agreement.
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6.5 Consultant agrees that in providing Services to the Company, Consultant will not use or disclose any 
confidential or proprietary information or trade secret of any current or former employer or any other parties having previously 
engaged Consultant. Consultant further agrees not to bring onto the premises of the Company any unpublished document or 
any property belonging to current or former employers or other parties having previously engaged Consultant, unless 
consented to in writing by said employers or parties.

 
6.6 Survival. The provisions of this Section 6 will survive the termination of this Agreement, and the 

existence of any claim or cause of action by Consultant against the Company, whether predicated on this Agreement or 
otherwise, will not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company of the covenants and agreements of this 
Section 6.

 
7.Independent Contractor Status. Consultant will perform the Services under this Agreement as an “independent 

contractor” and not as an employee or agent of the Company. As an independent contractor, Consultant is responsible for 
paying all taxes on all compensation paid under this Agreement and filing such tax returns as may be required by law or 
regulations. Consultant is not authorized to assume or create any obligation or responsibility, express or implied, on behalf of, 
or in the name of, the Company or to bind the Company in any manner.

 
8.Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and, except as expressly 

provided herein, supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter 
of this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, this Agreement shall have no effect on the Consultant’s existing agreements, 
duties and obligations as a Director of the Company.

 
9.Amendment. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by both the 

Company and Consultant.
 

10.Governing Law. This Agreement will be construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts without reference to any choice of law rules that would require the application of the laws 
of any other jurisdiction. All disputes arising out of this Agreement or either party’s performance hereunder, including any 
alleged violation or breach (whether in law, equity, tort or otherwise) shall be settled exclusively in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and both parties hereby consent to jurisdiction in any such court.

 
11.Non-Assignability of Contract. This Agreement is personal to Consultant and Consultant shall not have the right 

to assign any of Consultant’s rights or delegate any of Consultant’s duties without the express written consent of the 
Company. Any non-consented-to assignment or delegation, whether express or implied or by operation of law, shall be void 
and shall constitute a breach and a default by Consultant.

 
12.Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is binding upon, and inures to the benefit of, both parties and their 

respective successors and assigns, including any corporation with which, or into which, the Company may be merged or 
which may succeed to its assets or business.

 
13. Miscellaneous.
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13.1No delay or omission by the Company in exercising any right under this Agreement will operate as a 
waiver of that or any other right. A waiver or consent given by the Company on any one occasion will be effective only in 
that instance and will not be construed as a bar or waiver of any right on any other occasion.

 
13.2The captions of the sections of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and in no way 

define, limit or affect the scope or substance of any section of this Agreement.
 

13.3If any term or provision of this Agreement shall be found to be illegal or unenforceable, then such 
term or provision will be modified to the minimum extent necessary consistent with the intent of the parties in order to 
render such term or provision legal and enforceable, and notwithstanding that term or provision, all other terms and 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

 
13.4 This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of 

which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, 
email or other means of electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original 
signed copy of this Agreement.

 
[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement to be effective as of the day and year set forth 
above.

 
THE COMPANY

 
Cue Biopharma, Inc.
 
/s/ Daniel Passeri

Name: Daniel Passeri Title: CEO
 
 

CONSULTANT
 
/s/ Peter A. Kiener
 
Name: Peter A. Kiener, D.Phil

 

Notice Address:
 

[**]
 
 



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A TO CONSULTING AGREEMENT
 

SERVICES:
 

Consultant will serve as the Chairman of the Company’s Science and Technology Committee and will provide services 
relating generally to the Company’s research and development of pre- clinical and clinical candidates, regulatory strategies, 
evaluation of therapeutics, biomarkers, and other technologies that enhance Cue Biopharma’s platform development. 
Consultant will work with senior leadership to develop objectives and action plans designed to accomplish the Company’s 
strategic objectives.

 
COMPENSATION:

 
• Consultant will provide agreed upon services for at least 20 hours per month for a monthly retainer of $10,000.

 
 

• Out of pocket, reasonable and documented fees and expenses incidental to the work performed on behalf of the 
Company will be reimbursed on a monthly basis.

 
• Consultant is responsible for all payments of taxes or other duties in respect of the aforementioned fees and the 

expenses.
 





EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel R. Passeri, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cue Biopharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2023
 
/s/ Daniel R. Passeri
Name:  Daniel R. Passeri
Title:    Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
 





EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Kerri-Ann Millar, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cue Biopharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2023
 
/s/ Kerri-Ann Millar
Name:  Kerri-Ann Millar
Title:    Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
 





EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cue Biopharma, Inc. (the “Company”) for the three months ended June 30, 2023 as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Daniel R. Passeri, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Kerri-Ann 
Millar, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to 
our knowledge that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished 
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
/s/ Daniel R. Passeri  /s/ Kerri-Ann Millar
Name: Daniel R. Passeri  Name: Kerri-Ann Millar
Title: Chief Executive Officer  Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)  (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
   
Date: August 8, 2023  Date: August 8, 2023
 




